



ŠTEFAN ŽÁK – MÁRIA HASPROVÁ – TOMÁŠ RUŽIČKA

CONSUMER BEHAVIOUR CHANGES IN THE ERA OF DIGITAL MARKETING

Consumer Behaviour Changes in the Era of Digital Marketing

Authors

doc. Ing. Štefan ŽÁK, PhD., MBA, LL.M. / Faculty of Commerce, University of Economics in Bratislava, Slovak Republic Ing. Mária HASPROVÁ, PhD. / Faculty of Commerce, University of Economics in Bratislava, Slovak Republic Ing. Tomáš RUŽIČKA, PhD. / TOMAX, Ltd., Slovak Republic

Reviewers

doc. PhDr. Ing. Pavol KRIŽO, PhD., MBA / Bratislava University of Economics and Management, Slovak Republic doc. Ing. Gabriela PAJTINKOVÁ BARTÁKOVÁ, PhD. / Comenius University in Bratislava, Slovak Republic Ing. Martina JELÍNKOVÁ, Ph.D. / University of Pardubice, Czech Republic

Copyright © 2022 by Štefan Žák, Mária Hasprová, Tomáš Ružička

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

Published by Sciemcee Publishing.

LP22772, 20-22 Wenlock Road London, United Kingdom N1 7GU

Sciemcee Publishing is part of SCIEMCEE.

It furthers the SCIEMCEE's mission by disseminating knowledge in the pursuit of education, learning and research at the highest international levels of excellence.

No part of this publication may be reproduced in any manner without the express written consent of the publisher, except in the case of brief excerpts in critical reviews or articles. All inquiries be address to Sciemcee Publishing, LP22772, 20-22 Wenlock Road, London, N1 7GU or publishing@sciemcee.com.

First Edition: 2022

A catalogue record for this publication is available from British Library.

Sciemcee Publishing has no responsibility for the persistence or accuracy of URLs for external or third-party internet referred in this publication, and does not guarantee that any content on such websites is, or will remain, accurate or appropriate.

Every effort has been made in preparing this book to provide accurate and up-to-date information which is in accord with accepted standards and practice at the time of publication. Nevertheless, the authors, editors and publishers can make no warranties that the information contained herein is totally free from error. The authors, editors and publishers therefore disclaim all liability for direct or consequential damages resulting from the use of material contained in this book. Readers are strongly advised to pay careful attention to information provided by the book.

Sciencee Publishing also publishes its books in a variety of electronic formats. Some content that appears in print may not be available in electronic books.

Sciencee Publishing books may be purchased for educational, business, or sales promotional use. For information, please e-mail the Sciencee Publishing@sciencee.com.

ISBN 978-1-7399378-5-0

Includes bibliographical references and index.



Štefan Žák - Mária Hasprová - Tomáš Ružička

CONSUMER BEHAVIOUR CHANGES IN THE ERA OF DIGITAL MARKETING

Sciemcee Publishing 2022

Authors

doc. Ing. Štefan ŽÁK, PhD., MBA, LL.M. Faculty of Commerce, University of Economics in Bratislava, Slovak Republic

Ing. Mária HASPROVÁ, PhD. Faculty of Commerce, University of Economics in Bratislava, Slovak Republic

Ing. Tomáš RUŽIČKA, PhD. TOMAX, Ltd., Slovak Republic

Reviewers

doc. PhDr. Ing. Pavol KRIŽO, PhD., MBA Bratislava University of Economics and Management, Slovak Republic

doc. Ing. Gabriela PAJTINKOVÁ BARTÁKOVÁ, PhD. Comenius University in Bratislava, Slovak Republic

Ing. Martina JELÍNKOVÁ, Ph.D. University of Pardubice, Czech Republic

The authors are responsible for the technical aspects of the text, proofreading and the final version of the publication.

Approved by the pedagogical and editorial committee of the University of Economics in Bratislava in the editorial programme for 2022 as a *scientific monograph*.

The scientific monograph is an output of the VEGA project No.1/0505/22 "Implementation of innovative research methods and techniques in the investigation of consumer purchasing behaviour in the Slovak market conditions of research agencies and research sponsors".

ISBN 978-1-7399378-5-0

CONTENTS

Introduction	•••	5
1 Consumer behaviour in the context of digital marketing	•••	7
1.1 Factors and patterns of consumer behaviour		7
1.2 Consumer typology		15
1.3 Changes and trends in consumer behaviour		17
1.4 The digital era and digitalisation		19
1.5 Social media and social networks		23
1.6 Digital marketing tools		28
2 Research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022	•••	39
2.1 Systematic review of academic research studies		39
2.2 Selected findings of the research study SK-CBCH 2022		46
2.3 Verifying hypotheses and answering research questions		56
2.4 Comparison of findings from the research study		68
3 Digital consumer purchasing behaviour	•••	71
3.1 Model of digital consumer purchasing behaviour		71
3.2 Digital consumer typology		80
3.3 Dynamics of changes in purchasing behaviour in the online environment		83
3.4 Theoretical and practical implications of the problem addressed		88
Conclusion	•••	93
References	•••	95

Introduction

Technology has changed rapidly in the last 30 years, and even changes can be seen in a much shorter time frame - for example, in the last three years. Technological progress is a driving force that affects all elements of the market. The consumer can be seen as the core marketing element, and all marketing activities focus on consumers. Contemporary consumer is more connected online than ever before. At the same time, the range of activities that consumers carry out online has expanded significantly. The consumer behaviour represents the different ways in which products, services or resources are consumed. The trend is towards a significant increase in consumption, not only in terms of a volume but also in terms of quality and a structure.

The turnover from the sale of goods and services via the Internet has been steadily increasing. This trend is noticeable both locally and globally. The continuous access of consumers to the Internet is accompanied by the presence of applications for mobile devices. Social networks have significantly changed the way people communicate with each other. Changes in consumer behaviour require an adequate and proactive response in the use of modern marketing tools in order to achieve an effective marketing communication. To be able to satisfy the needs and wants of consumers, companies need to know them perfectly. It means that firms must be able to characterise and then categorize consumers. By studying and getting to know consumers and then categorize them, firms and marketers are able to know consumers intimately, predict their buying behaviour or influence their buying behaviour through a specific marketing mix. The knowledge of the consumer behaviour is the key to understanding how consumers will react to a new product or a service and also enables the identification of yet unrecognised opportunities on the market.

The scientific monograph Consumer Behaviour Changes in the Era of Digital Marketing aims to identify the patterns of digital consumer behaviour and the typology of digital consumers based on the analysis of the impact of digital technologies on long-term changes in consumer behaviour. At the same time, the authors of the scientific monograph aim to assess critically the concepts of the digital era and the digital consumer and also to specify the basic typology of consumers, to identify the forms and tools of digital marketing, to characterise the impact of social media on the digital consumer. In addition, the authors of the

scientific monograph purposefully define and characterise the online space as a platform influencing consumer behaviour, then define it in this space, and describe the processes in the online space leading to purchasing in the online environment. The outcome of the objectives of the scientific monograph is the identification of changes in consumer behaviour concerning their evolution over time.

Methodologically, the scientific monograph relies on several scientific research methods, enabling it to fulfil its primary objective through the solution of partial objectives. The authors used *content analysis of* available theoretical sources of domestic and foreign origin and, by comparing these findings, contributed to creating a knowledge base in the digital consumer behaviour and decision-making field. The basis for the subsequent comparison of theoretical knowledge with the practical experiences of consumers in making purchasing decisions in the digital environment was the implementation of an *empirical survey a* imed at identifying the impact of social media on digital consumers and the characteristics of the importance of digital communication channels on informed consumers and in communication with them. The synthesis of the findings from the conducted empirical research also applied, and the subsequent was use of the *induction* method in identifiable changes in consumer behaviour with respect to their evolution over time and the *deduction* method in formulating a typology of the digital consumer helped to *identify patterns of* their behaviour in different purchasing situations in the digital environment.

The scientific monograph is divided into three chapters. The findings in the main chapters of the scientific monograph are complemented and compared with the *findings of the research study Changes in Consumer Behaviour SK-CBCH* 2022, which the authors conducted in 2022 on a sample of 454 consumers and whose results was the impetus and basis for the elaboration of the scientific monograph itself. *The ambition of the scientific monograph Consumer Behaviour Changes in the Era of Digital Marketing* is to become a primary source that will complement the current scientific knowledge related to the issue of consumer behaviour and its changes influenced by the advent of digital technologies. The development of these technologies is very rapid. Therefore, this publication is not only a presentation of new knowledge and directions in the field but also creates a confrontational basis for the future broader scientific discussion.

Authors

1 Consumer behaviour in the context of digital marketing

The changes brought about by innovation and the constant development of the Internet and information and communication technologies affect all areas of the human life. These changes are noticeable in everyday lives of the present population and, at the same time, can be considered extremely progressive. Today's highly competitive environment poses challenges to marketing results from the current gradual saturation of marketing activities. Constant shifts in consumer behaviour and the rapid development of a technological change has been creating new markets and it leads to a change in consumer purchasing decisions. These changes are important factors influencing consumer preferences in the choice of products or services.

1.1 Factors and patterns of consumer behaviour

Consumer behaviour includes knowledge about how individuals, groups or organisations buy and use different products, services or ideas to satisfy their needs. It also refers to the actions of consumers in the marketplace and highlights the motives leading to these actions. Marketers seek to understand what motivates people to make purchases of particular products or services. The study of consumer behaviour points at the fact that consumers, as active market participants, have different roles. The American Marketing Association (AMA) defines consumer behaviour as people's dynamic interactions with their environment, which include emotions, cognition and action. Through these interactions, people make changes that help them satisfy their needs.

According to Blackwell, Miniard and Engel (2006), consumer behaviour is a set of actions and decision-making processes of people who purchase products and services in order to satisfy their needs. Loudon and Della Bitta (1993) define consumer behaviour as the decision-making process and physical activity that leads individuals to evaluate, acquire, use or dispose of products and services. According to Kulcakova (1996), consumer behaviour is defined as the overt and observable acts of buying and consuming. Kroeber-Riel and Weinberg (2003) distinguish consumer behaviour in a narrower and a broader sense. In the narrower sense, they understand it as people's behaviour in purchasing and consuming economic goods. They define consumer behaviour in a broader sense as the behaviour of consumers in consuming material and immaterial goods. The definition of consumer behaviour as the activity leading consumers to seek products and services that satisfy their needs suggests fundamental assumptions that can be summarized as follows (Soliman, 2000):

- The decision-making process can depend on the individual as well as the group.
- Consumer behaviour includes mental as well as physical activities such as shopping, information gathering, conversations, analysing offers and decision making.
- Consumer behaviour is goal-oriented.

The study of consumer behaviour is valuable in terms of its impact on consumption, dividing consumers from individuals, families to organisations. Kita (2017) states that consumer behaviour is mainly manifest and observable phenomena, which include purchase and consumption. These phenomena can be considered as fundamental aspects in the consumer's decision-making process. He further defines consumer behaviour as the social and mental processes that take place before, during, and after purchase.

It is essential to examine individuals, groups or organisations and the processes by which they choose, acquire, use and dispose of products and services. It brings together elements from psychology, sociology, social anthropology and economics. The emphasis is on understanding the decision-making process of the shopper. An important part of understanding consumer behaviour is to ascertain the influence of groups to which the consumer belongs, such as family, friends, reference groups or society as a whole. The study of consumer behaviour is based on purchasing behaviour where the consumer plays roles such as buyer, payer or user. Authors Peter and Olson (2008) characterize consumer behaviour as a dynamic interaction of knowledge, affect, behaviour, and influences generated by the environment. Through this interaction, people manage exchange relationships in their lives. In the concept of consumer behaviour, we encounter its three components - cognitive, conative and affective. Given the constant changes and evolution of society, it can be said that consumer behaviour is extremely dynamic. In order for marketing managers to be able to monitor and respond to changes and significant developments, it is essential to ensure continuous monitoring of the target group, the tendencies of its behaviour in the market and also the factors that influence this behaviour.

CONSUMER BEHAVIOUR FACTORS

A number of influences are at work in shaping consumer behaviour. Many variables influence consumers' purchasing decisions. Their influence on the decision-making process is manifested in the purchase decision. These variables are often related to the environment in which the consumer lives. They are so-called external factors. These include income, social status, culture, etc. Internal factors, on the other hand, are those that arise from various psychological characteristics of the individual. These include, for example, motivation, attitudes, learning, personality traits or the ability to perceive stimuli from the environment. Kotler and Keller (2007) distinguish 4 basic factors of consumer behaviour: cultural, social, personality and psychological.

Cultural factors

Culture can be defined as the totality of knowledge, understanding, beliefs, arts, laws, rules, moral codes and customs that are characteristic of the members of a Culture refers to a particular human particular society (Richter, 2015). community of which it is an integral part (Zamazalova, 2009). Solomon, Marshall and Stuart (2006) characterize culture or cultural factors as a set of social values, beliefs, tastes and customs that are important to people. Cultural factors are considered to be an important determinant of human behaviour in society. It is these factors that fundamentally influence consumer preferences and behaviour. The value in the context of cultural influences acting on consumer behaviour is the judgement that shapes people's basic life orientations. These values do not change easily and are not a large number (Koudelka, 2010). There are other groups of subcultures within individual cultures. Culture as a set of elementary values and norms, perceptions of society, desires and behaviour of a person is acquired mainly through the influence of family and institutions such as school or employment. Unlike biological traits, people acquire elements of culture through social experiences (Schiffman, Kanuk, 2004). The individual elements of culture provide an effective basis for consumer segmentation in the marketplace. The most important elements of culture in terms of examining their influence on consumer behaviour (Koudelka, 2010) are customs, values, status of women and men, language, non-verbal communication, symbols, rituals, religion and myths, taboos, body image and art. In general, culture has the most significant influence on consumer behaviour (Poliačiková, 2007) and also has a major impact on the satisfaction of people's needs in society.

Social factors

Throughout their lives, people come into contact with different social groups that influence their consumer behaviour in certain ways. Every consumer belongs to a certain social group. The most important social factors include family, reference groups, social status and status (Kotler, Armstrong, 2010). Family as a consumer unit making purchase decisions is among the phenomena of marketing and consumer behaviour (Commuri, Gentry, 2000). Family as a basic social group shapes the attitudes, values, and behaviours of its members. Reference groups represent groups of persons with whose behaviour and views an individual identifies. Schiffman and Kanuk (2004) distinguish between normative and comparative reference groups. Normative reference groups influence general values and behaviour. Conversely, reference groups serving as a measure for particular, specific attitudes are called comparative. Consumers unconsciously try to imitate reference groups, a phenomenon that often translates into consumer or purchasing behaviour. It is precisely the membership of reference groups that presents a good opportunity for marketing practice in order to influence consumers. People belong to different groups throughout their lives. Some are chosen, others are included. It is the groups that have a significant influence on the consumer and his behaviour or decision-making. Through the influence of groups, individuals acquire information about products or services. If a group is distinguished from other groups by its consumption behaviour, it is possible to identify this group on the basis of consumption. In terms of the formality of the group, we distinguish two basic types - formal and informal groups (Richter, 2015). Social status represents a stable homogeneous unit situated in society. Each person has a certain status and role in society. Social roles are identifiable within a group and can be defined as a defined pattern of behaviour that is expected of a particular person in a particular situation in that person (Hawkins, Best, & Coney, 1989). The actions that are expected of specific persons represent their role. Status, on the other hand, is associated with the esteem that the role commands in society. Kotler and Keller (2007) further introduce the concept of decision maker under social factors. This includes all persons who have an influence on the purchase decision process. This includes the following individuals: initiator, influencer, decision maker, buyer and user.

Personality factors

Personality factors strongly influence consumer behaviour. Personality represents those intrinsic psychological characteristics that determine the way an individual

responds to the environment. In terms of examining the nature of personality, the following characteristics are particularly highlighted (Schiffman, Kanuk, 2004):

- personality expresses the difference between individuals,
- personality is fixed and permanent,
- personality can change.

Nákonečný (2001) describes personality as the internal organization of mental life. Three main theories describing personality are encountered in the literature. These are the Freudian theory, the non-Freudian theory and the theory of character traits. The personality factors mainly include the personal characteristics of the consumer such as age and stage of life, occupation, economic situation, lifestyle, personality and self-perception. Over the course of their lives, consumers change the products and services they purchase. It is age that has a major influence on what product or service a consumer buys. At each stage of life, an individual has different preferences and specificities for that life stage. Life experiences also play a significant role. There are 4 basic age segments: children, juniors, middle-aged and seniors (Koudelka, 1997). Occupation influences purchasing behaviour mainly in terms of the type of products and services consumers purchase. An essential prerequisite is the definition of occupational groups (Zamazalova, 2009). Income is a prerequisite for the possibility of making a purchase of products or services. An increase in income largely leads to an increase in consumption. Lifestyle is a reflection of an individual's way of life manifested through interests, activities and opinions.

Psychological factors

Psychological factors are among the internal factors. They affect the individual from within. In the issue of consumer behaviour, the factors studied are: motivation, perception, learning and attitudes.

The vast majority of human action is deliberate and goal-oriented. It is based on a perception of the needs that the individual is trying to satisfy. Motivation plays a key role in the process of satisfying needs. Motivation is the state of the organism prompting a person to act (Richter, 2015). Motivation is the driving force that spurs an individual to action. This force is caused by the existence of an unmet need. Consumer behaviour in this case is the activity that mediates the relationship between the need and its fulfilment. It is necessary to distinguish between the concepts of motivation and motive. Both concepts induce a state of imbalance in man, as a result of which it is necessary to satisfy needs in order to avoid frustration. Motives are divided into intrinsic and extrinsic (Stork, 2001). Among the most well-known and widely used theories of motivation is Maslow's hierarchy of needs, which arranges needs from the most basic, most important needs to the least important ones.

Perception is an intrapsychic process that helps individuals select, organize, and interpret stimuli from the environment into a meaningful picture (Schiffman, Kanuk, 2004). Sensitivity, perceptual threshold, and differential threshold are the basic prerequisites of perception. Perception is the process in which information is selected, sorted, and interpreted. Perception is an individual matter; different people may perceive the same stimulus in different ways. Solomon, Marshall and Stuart (2006) state that consumers tend to pay more attention to stimuli that are related to their current needs. In the process of perception, there is also often a so-called selection bias, whereby a person assigns a different meaning to certain stimuli than the stimulus actually has.

Another psychological factor influencing consumer behaviour is learning. People learn throughout their lives in order to acquire the knowledge, attitudes, skills or habits that are necessary for them. The necessity of continuous learning is conditioned by the constant changes in the micro and macro environment.

Attitudes are learned behavioural predispositions. A characteristic feature of attitudes is the attribution of certain ways of behaving to specific objects or phenomena. The author Koch (2012) defines attitudes as a direct or indirect learned experience, a more or less stable behavioural predisposition with respect to an object of interest. Consumers' attitudes are always related to their needs. Schiffman and Kanuk (2004) characterize attitudes as learned tendencies to react. Attitude consists of three basic components: cognitive, affective and conative (Solomon, Marshall and Stuart, 2006). Consumer attitude is extremely important for marketing practice because if a customer has a negative attitude towards a brand, product or service, they will not make a purchase.

Technological factors

Continuous advances and developments in technology are bringing fundamental changes to consumers' everyday lives. The high level of use of technology by ordinary consumers or households also has a major impact on their behaviour. The impacts and consequences of existing, new and advanced technologies are strongly reflected in consumer behaviour trends. With the advent of the Internet, consumer behaviour seems to be more influenced by social networks, search engines, comparison sites or personalised blogs. Companies are forced to adapt their strategies to be able to keep up with the behavioural changes influenced by new technologies. The impact of technology has also been evident in globalisation. Vysekalova (2011) suggests that in the future there may be universal consumption and similar consumer perceptions and behaviours despite different countries. The development of technology contributes to many processes becoming easier and their duration much shorter. Innovation is an important factor influencing consumer behaviour, particularly in the context of the changes it brings. Many technologies and their development are nowadays setting trends that influence consumers and their behaviour. The impact of technology on consumer behaviour can be both positive and negative.

MODELS OF CONSUMER BEHAVIOUR

The model represents an abstract conception of a real world situation. In developing models of consumer behaviour, theorists try to describe consumer behaviour in the most effective way. The most comprehensive models of consumer behaviour include:

- *Howard-Seth model* represents a complexly elaborated scheme, the principle of which is the so-called black box of the consumer. Smith (2000) describes a simplified version of the complex model by assuming a division of the black box into two parts. The first is perception and the second is detection. The full model includes perception, information discovery, attitudes and motivation. Kita (2015) states that the Howard-Seth model distinguishes three levels of consumer behaviour cognitive, conative and affective.
- *Nicosia model* one of the oldest models of consumer behaviour. It describes the process from the inducement by firms in the form of marketing incentives, through the creation of consumer attitude to the act of consumer behaviour. This model focuses on the relationships between the sharing of a message and its effects on potential consumers (Jones, Shaw, & McClean, 2011).
- *Engel-Blackwell-Miniard model* one of the best known models of consumer behaviour. It focuses on taking into account the communication mix and its effect on the consumer, the learning process, the evaluation

process and the purchase behaviour itself. An important element of this model is the consideration of external and internal variables that have a significant and difficult to predict impact on the consumer (Blackwell, Engel, & Miniard, 2006). This model also explains the process that leads to the discovery and perception of the stimuli influencing behaviour as well as their consequences. Another feature of this model is that it details the various factors of influence. These include individual differences and environmental influences (Kita, 2015)

- *AIDA model the* name of the model is derived from the initial letters of the English A-atention, I-interest, D-desire, A-action (in Slovak translation attention, interest, desire, action). The name itself describes the process of the model. The object of consumption must arouse attention, arouse the consumer's interest, so that he desires the product and considers it to be the right one to satisfy his needs. The final step is action in the form of consumption. The AIDA model is also often used in the field of marketing communication.
- *Lavidge & Steiner model* based on the AIDA and Engel-Blackwell-Miniard models, with the addition of several elements of the purchasing process. Lavidge and Steiner report the significant influence of psychological or economic involvement in the purchase of a product to satisfy a need (Arnott, Fitzgerald, 2000).
- *Acceptance model* specifies the consumer's reactions and their relationship to changes in the market.
- *Linear additive model* Smith (2000) defines linear models as additive models involving personal variables. These variables include, for example, attitudes, intentions, or beliefs. The model seeks to provide a mathematical representation of consumer preferences. By assigning numerical values to customer preferences, specific marketing strategies can then be developed.
- *Threshold models* this model is concerned with examining key characteristics thresholds that serve as an imaginary filter in satisfying needs. Smith (2000) states that every purchase contains a threshold that consumers are unwilling to cross.
- *Exchange models* they focus on the different alternatives that come into consideration in purchasing behaviour. Hoyer and Macinnis (2008) define exchange models as a mental analysis of the benefits of a product or service

and the costs of acquiring it. In this case, the negative evaluation of one of the attributes is replaced by the positive attributes of the other.

• *The rational planned behaviour model* - focuses on the rational elements in the consumer's purchasing decision. This model assumes the conscious acquisition and evaluation of information regarding the utility or benefits of a product while comparing it with prices, incomes and other factors (Zamazalova, 2010). The opposite of this model is the model of impulsive behaviour.

Koudelka (1997) provides a view considering the use of a combination of several models of consumer behaviour. It uses psychological, sociological and rational elements. This view provides a specific category synthesising multiple models of consumer behaviour. Given its interdisciplinary nature, it can be considered much more sophisticated than the result of one way of characterising consumer behaviour.

It follows that each of the models brings a specific perspective to the issue of consumer behaviour, examining specific stimuli and situations. Thus, it is the complex models of consumer behaviour, as a combination of several of these models, that provide the most sophisticated and comprehensive view of the issue under study.

1.2 Consumer typology

At the heart of modern marketing are human needs - the needs of the consumer. For the profitability of a firm, it is crucial to be able to satisfy consumer needs better than the competition, given the highly competitive environment (Schiffman, Kanuk, 2004). An important step before examining consumer behaviour is to distinguish the concepts of consumer and customer. The term consumer refers to persons who make consumption of products or services even if the person does not purchase or pay for them. The term customer can only be applied to a person who, by an act of his/her will, makes decisions, orders, purchases and pays (Vysekalová, 2004). The person who performs the act of consuming goods and services is called a consumer. Solomon, Marshall and Stuart (2006) characterize the consumer as the final user of a good or service. Richterová - Kulčáková - Klepochová (2005) define a consumer as an individual purchasing products or services for their own consumption, use by family members or as a gift to others. Consumers can be individuals or organisations, or they can be companies, government, associations or charities. Horská and Ubrežová (2001) distinguish two categories of consumers:

- an individual consumer is an individual purchasing products and services for his/her own consumption, family consumption or for the purpose of giving as a gift,
- organisations as consumers purchase products to develop their activities.

Consumer typology is the division of systems of persons, objects or phenomena into different groups on the basis of certain criteria or features (Vysekalova, 2011).

Typology, i.e. the segmentation of consumers into groups according to predefined traits, is one of the key areas of marketing. *Types express the characteristics of a certain group - segment in a reserved form and highlight the features that are characteristic for it. The characteristics of the individuals who belong there are more or less similar to the type. Typology does not exclude intra-individual differences in behaviour. Behaviour is influenced not only by personal characteristics, but also by social, psychological and individual conditions (Richter, 2015). Richter further distinguishes between transnational and national approaches to consumer typologies. The transnational approach focuses on two main variables of psychographic segmentation - personality and lifestyle. The premise of this approach is the ability to define people based on their customs and life values. Based on this, it is then possible to define the motives for their behaviour, life and value attitudes. Psychographic research carried out on large, representative samples plays an important role here. As a result of the research, typologies are developed.*

The most well-known lifestyle typologies include VALS, EUROSTYLES and SINUS META MILIEUS. The VALS (Values And Life Styles) typology is based on the approach of identifying individual groups. This approach is based on the theory that a person goes through several developmental phases during his/her life and each phase influences his/her views, goals, attitudes or interests. These phenomena are subsequently reflected in their purchasing behaviour. The original version of the VALS system resulted in 9 types. With the passage of time, it was reduced to two internally structured variables. The first is life orientation, which divides people into three categories based on whether they are personally oriented towards ideals, achievement or self-expression. The second variable is resources, which are divided into tangible and intangible. (Richterova et. al, 2015).

EUROSTYLES (Eurostyles) is a typology based on defining consumers according to their lifestyles and values. It is characterised by two groups of features:

- Characteristics of the relationship to innovation.
- Indicators of the relationship to material and immaterial values.

In a Publicis Knut survey of a sample of 4,000 respondents aged 15 and over, 11 types of consumers were defined on the basis of factor analyses: breadwinner, modernity generation, successful and affluent, housewife, consumption worshippers, information age followers, oldies in the new, stock gold diggers, the disadvantaged, holidaymakers and leisure gourmets. This is a unique typology of Slovak consumers (Publicis Knut, 2008). The consumer typology is often an important starting point for marketers in decision-making and strategy building. According to Publicis Knut (2008) and authors Spiggle and Sandres (1984), the core benefits of consumer typology include:

- dividing the market into smaller parts, which it also defines,
- reducing the amount of data into clusters that are easier to grasp,
- enabling a deeper understanding of consumer behaviour of different types,
- helping to identify which consumers are delivering value currently and which will deliver value in the future,
- displaying communication channels and stimuli that will work on specific types,
- the possibility of understanding how consumers perceive themselves and what products they are looking for.

It is important to note that some consumer types can be considered as continuous; on the other hand, some types have evolved in parallel with technological and economic developments. After defining target markets, firms are faced with the decision whether to target one or more segments (Schiffman, Kanuk, 2004).

1.3 Changes and trends in consumer behaviour

Technological progress, social trends as well as the variety of choice and the improving economic situation of the population are factors that are changing consumer behaviour in the market. Marketers are forced to respond to changes in lifestyles and consumer behaviour. Thanks to technology and the Internet in particular, consumers are becoming more and more informed and it is much more difficult to reach them through traditional media. Segmentation can be identified as a key tool to respond to these changes. Today's era is characterised by the fact that consumers have an extremely large and varied range of products available on the market to meet their needs. It is this fact that encourages the perception of consumption as an important part of social life. Fashion can also be seen as one of the most fundamental drivers of changes in consumer behaviour. Fashion is a social pattern preferred at a certain time and by a large number of people (Sopóci, 2004). Different phases of consumer behaviour are noticeable within social development. Each phase in this development reflects specific elements characterizing consumption and consumer behaviour.

It is an irrefutable fact that over the last twenty to thirty years there have been significant changes caused by the penetration of the Internet and mobile technologies into people's lives. Technological developments have brought with them changes in social and societal trends, and it is technologies such as the Internet and mobile phones that have had a huge impact on these trends. These changes are also influencing consumer preferences and behaviour. Despite the significant technological changes, there is an assumption that the nature of consumer behaviour will not change significantly, but that the means used by consumers in particular will change significantly. We are seeing more and more 'singles' households, which are households with one member.

The trend is an ageing population, this fact, given the current state of digital literacy of the population, indicates a high expectation of a high percentage of digitally literate seniors in the future. In the context of this phenomenon, it should also be pointed out that the behaviour of a specific segment of consumers, represented by seniors, is also changing.

Digital skills are a step towards consumers becoming part of a multicultural society. There is an increasing pressure to socialise consumers. In order to be able to maintain profits, companies are forced to interact with customers through new technologies. The change in the social context of consumption is challenging marketers to cope with a diverse range of new issues related to marketing research. As a result of the impact of new technologies, there is a noticeable change in the size and age structure of society, leading to a gradual transformation of consumer behaviour. Currently, it is the area of consumption that is reflecting significant changes. Factors such as the longevity of the population, aging, the ability of

seniors to control new means of communication and to have much more information than in the past lead to the generation over 60 being able to adapt new technologies (Ordun, 2015). The younger generation is characterized by a noticeable qualitative change in their perspective on consumption. This generation is able to adapt very quickly to dynamic changes in technology. The above changes are very significant in the process of shaping consumption in the future.

Based on Cetelem's 2015 barometer survey, 60% of Europeans have changed the way they shop within 5 years. These changes can be seen on two levels. The first is the change in terms of the quantity of goods or services purchased. The second is the qualitative changes in purchasing in terms of the object of purchase and the way of purchasing. The economic crisis has had a significant impact on changes in consumer behaviour in recent years. One of the indicators in the barometer shows that 56% of consumers have reduced impulse purchases. In terms of mobile technology or the internet and their impact on consumer behaviour, they can be identified as key vectors of consumption. Based on the results of the Cetelem barometer (2015), it is justified to identify electronics and cooperative shopping practices as essential factors influencing the development and changes in consumer behaviour. The survey further reflects that 73% of Europeans have increased their use of internet and mobile technologies compared to five years ago. Europeans' Internet and mobile technology literacy is high across age groups, with minimal differences. The second-hand market and online purchases are also gaining ground, at the expense of new product purchases and purchases made in bricks-and-mortar stores. Internet shopping has thus come to the fore in terms of new ways of shopping. Adherence to a healthy lifestyle is a strong trend among many consumers. We are seeing the use of various applications that monitor activities related to healthy lifestyles, following news through websites, discussions or blogs. At the same time, many people use social networks or specific websites to share their opinions, results or advice. Other trends in consumption that are worth noting are the attention paid to product quality, increased respect for the environment.

1.4 The digital era and digitalisation

Experts refer to the twenty-first century as the century of information and knowledge. It is information and knowledge that is an important prerequisite for successful activity, performance and growth of wealth in different areas of the

economy. The potential and use of information and communication technologies are pushing human society into a new dimension, which is referred to as the digital era (Žák, 2014).

Thanks to the Internet, a new dynamic sector has emerged - the digital economy, where information and communication technologies are creating and continuously expanding a global platform through which people and businesses can implement their business plans, communicate and search for information. The European Commission attributes to the digital economy a 50% share of growth over the last 15 years, which has not been completely dampened even during the crisis. Revenues of the world's top ICT firms grew by 6% a year between 2000 and 2011. ICT services fared even better than ICT equipment manufacturing, with growth of 5 to 10 per cent. However, European ICT businesses account for only around 20% of global revenues and employment in the sector, according to OECD surveys (ITAS, 2014).

Technological advances are progressing at a rapid pace and it is therefore crucial for businesses to be able to adapt to these changes and also to consumer demand for digital content consumption. Consumers today are more armed with information than ever before. The internet and digital technologies have increased the demands for personalised information and on-demand services, creating a situation in which brands have to strive much harder for attention. *It can be said that the 21st century has contributed to the creation of a dynamic new sector - the digital economy.*" *The implementation of information and communication technologies has made their digital platform extremely useful as it brings advantages and benefits to all market players. In particular, key factors include cheapened and simplified access to the source of information, its processing and storage (Žák, 2014).*

Digitisation means the conversion of information from analogue to digital form. With the proliferation of digitization, many aspects of life are captured and stored in digital form. The Internet is used for a diverse range of activities, resulting in a high number of people using this network. Especially economically active people with specific interests are forced to navigate this space flexibly. The Internet can also be seen as a flexible, fast and relatively inexpensive communication channel that can deliver messages to the target group very quickly and efficiently.

CONSUMER BEHAVIOUR AND THE DIGITAL ECONOMY

In the last three decades, the evolution of information and communication technologies has led to the emergence of a new economic model, the so-called digital economy (Van Gorp and Batura, 2015). This model shows the potential to stimulate competition between businesses and consumer welfare. Due to the continuous increase in the availability of the Internet for different categories of users, this model is spreading at a significant pace. The European Commission (EC, 2016) reports that gross revenues have at least doubled in selected sectors in a span of two years. According to the World Bank (2016), the main benefits arising from the use of digital technologies by individuals, firms or the public sector are as follows:

- They reduce information and transaction costs.
- They encourage innovation.
- They enhance efficiency through speed and convenience of service.
- They increase consumer inclusion by increasing the availability of services that were previously unavailable.
- They create new job opportunities.

The characteristics of the digital economy are highly conducive to stimulating competition through price comparison sites or other online facilities that help consumers to obtain relevant information regarding the products and services they wish to acquire (World Bank, 2016). Another driving force is the rating of sellers through various rating systems or online forms, and many consumers find this information relevant. Consumer interaction and sharing of experiences are also highly frequent nowadays (Alexandru, 2016). Pressure is put on companies, which is reflected in the form of competition between competitors to send messages to their target audiences (Armstrong, 2008). At the same time, companies are taking the approach of investing in creating better products or services, for the purpose of generating so-called content clients from whom they receive positive reviews. This positive information in turn influences the attraction of new customers as well as the return of former customers (Bolisani, Scarso and Zieba, 2015). The effective management of information flows and the implicit management of knowledge across the value chain is unquestionably a source of competitive advantage in a digital economy that is heavily influenced by globalization (Nicolescu, Galalae and Voicu, 2013).

DIGITAL DYSFUNCTION

The negative phenomena and consequences of the digital era are also referred to by experts as digital dysfunction. In the field of consumer behaviour research, consumer satisfaction is one of the key starting points (Dahl and Peltier, 2015). Consumer dissatisfaction and complaints form a separate narrow sub-category. There is a sophisticated body of research in this particular area focusing specifically on consumer reactions associated with negative outcomes; the need for research in this area continues to grow. The area of consumer dissatisfaction or consumer abuse represents an important area of investigation for marketers.

Sargeant and West (2001) describe 3 specific ways in which consumers express their complaints or dissatisfaction. The first way describes a situation where consumers express dissatisfaction directly to the company. The second is represented by word of mouth and in the third way the consumer seeks the help of external entities such as lawyers, consumer protection associations, etc.

A digital environment in which sub-optimal outcomes are occurring is leading to profound changes in consumer behaviour and the relationship between consumers and businesses. From a business perspective, the digital era brings with it enormous opportunities as well as significant challenges. With the ever-increasing volume of data being collected and subsequently analysed, there is scope and opportunities for companies to better access information about consumers and their purchasing behaviour. These insights are extremely helpful for companies as they allow them to target the market with much greater precision and tailor a tailored offer for consumers. Retargeting is becoming a phenomenon, as is content customisation. If a customer virtually enters a digital store or shares any information in connection with a potential purchase, the retailer has the opportunity, thanks to special tools, to offer a standardised offer directly on the consumer's display. These facts clearly document the significant changes in the relationship between sellers and consumers. The consumer is much more involved in the process of creating specific content (Kaplan and Haenlein, 2010). The growing role of the consumer in the content creation and customisation process, together with the continuously increasing range of options for the consumer, puts pressure on companies and forces them to respond flexibly to consumer demands. Einwiller and Steilen (2015), in the context of a highly competitive marketplace, point to the need to capture consumers' attention through various channels, social media not least. There is a need to manage not only offer and delivery but also consumer response and reactions.

1.5 Social media and social networks

Nowadays, for most people, life without the Internet and the ability to access various information is very difficult to imagine. There is no doubt that it is thanks to the Internet that people have the opportunity to benefit from many advantages. It is social media that is used by many people for the purpose of getting information or communication.

Social media can be defined as online communication channels or as forms of electronic communication that are mainly used to establish and develop social contacts (Cohen, 2011). Their advantage is that content can be created, edited or commented on by any registered user. Thus, they provide a large scope for creativity and ideas, which are then easily disseminated among the users themselves. They are superior to social networks because they also include blogs, wiki pages or chat rooms. Over the past few years, social media has become a popular way to generate profit. Scott and Jacka (2011) identify social media as a tool that allows the exchange of ideas, opinions, discussion regarding the content of the site or networking. The difference between traditional and social media is that content can be created by any user. We come across various forms of social media such as text forms, video, photos that bring communities together and are a platform for people who have a need to associate. Social media can be characterized as a group of applications connected to the Internet and built on the ideological and technological foundation of Web 2.0. They also enable the creation and exchange of user-generated content (Kaplan, Haenlein, 2010).

Janouch (2010) defines social media as media with content created and shared by its users. Social media is dynamic with constantly changing content. With social media, we encounter a wide range of tools. This fact is related to the constant emergence but also the disappearance or merging of services provided by social media. It is therefore difficult to specify the exact breakdown of social media. Solis (2017), on his website conversationprism.com, gives the following breakdown of them - blogs, B2B social networks, newsgroups and forums, multimedia sharing sites, microblogging services, podcasting, review and travel sites, social networking sites, wiki-systems, bookmarking systems, geolocation services.

Social media has brought about a change in the way companies communicate with consumers. Traditional media only allows for one-way communication. Social media, on the other hand, allows for the perception of consumer feedback. Media

monitoring is used to detect feedback. Ogneva (2010) defines media monitoring as the continuous and ongoing discovery of brand conversations for the purpose of education, engagement, assistance and collaboration.

A significant increase in the popularity of social media can also be seen in the Slovak Republic. Social media significantly influence the behaviour and habits of Internet users. Over the past years, social media has become a popular way to generate profit. Social networking has a significant impact on marketing as well as marketing research. They are interactive online platforms where groups and individuals discuss, exchange, edit and co-create content. The whole concept of social media influence is based on popularity. If a business is trying to influence consumer behaviour, it should achieve a high degree of popularity for its products among its target group. Social media has the purpose of reaching potential customers as well as interacting with existing ones. Businesses or brands desire loyal customers, but face a much bigger challenge - to build communities.

The age of technological advancement brings with it the opportunity to build loyalty through the systematic implementation of loyalty principles into marketing strategies. Businesses can achieve this by implementing corporate loyalty principles into their social media strategy.

Bernoff and Li (2008) segment active social network users into five groups based on social behaviour: 'creators' publish and post various content, 'critics' comment and rate other users' activity, 'harvesters' store and collect videos, photos or other content, 'joiners' tend to join groups, stay connected with other users and become part of pages or groups, and 'watchers' follow what is happening and read relevant content.

Mayfield (2008) defines five basic characteristics of social media. These include participation, openness, reciprocity, emphasis on community, and connectedness. These characteristics are the impetus for using social media as a tool to reach potential consumer groups or to communicate with existing customers.

For marketers, it is crucial to keep track of the growing interaction of consumers with the digital environment. This activity is most evident on social media in particular. Consumer behaviour in the online environment is a dynamic element developing at a high growth rate. These changes also have a significant impact on marketing decision-making. There is a noticeable phenomenon within the marketing environment where there is an increase in interactivity in the digital environment. Social media represents one of the most prominent aspects of consumer activity in the digital environment. As consumers are increasingly performing activities that were previously controlled by commercial companies, the overall marketing environment is changing in its original perception. In terms of the evolution of consumer behaviour in the online environment, significant changes are noticeable. Consumers are engaging in a variety of activities ranging from consuming content, participating in discussions or sharing knowledge and information with other consumers in order to contribute to their activities. Kristina Heinonen (2011) states that the consumer becomes an active contributor to the creation of marketing content. This assertion is based on the huge consumer interest in social media and the content on it created by its users. The most well-known platforms where consumers actively contribute to the creation of marketing content are Facebook, YouTube and Wikipedia.

Stafford and Schkade (2004) identified three basic consumer doubts and motives for using the Internet as a medium. These are information, entertainment and social aspects. This finding is supported and extended by research on consumer generated media. This research identifies information, entertainment, social interaction and community development, self-actualization, self-actualization and self-expression as the main motives of consumers (Shao, 2009). A particularly important area of investigation for marketers in this context is consumer activity on social networking sites. Consumers' social media activities have been examined based on their degree of activity in the online environment. De Valck et. al. al. (2009) identified six groups or different members of a virtual community. The criteria for categorization are the degree of communication or participation of members in the virtual community.

- Core community consists of the members who contribute the most to the development of the community. It is the key members of the community who enrich, acquire as well as discuss information the most.
- Conversation-oriented consumers. They focus on discussion regarding information.
- A group oriented to information download.
- A group whose interest is mainly focused on updating their personal information. They tend to post content frequently on social media.

- Functionalists focus on the acquisition of information with the aim of its subsequent use. Often these are professional companies.
- Opportunists they only get marginal content.

In contrast to the above division, Shao (2009) states that people perform three main activities in the online environment:

- Information consumption and entertainment.
- Participating in social interactions and developing a community online.
- Production of elements of self-expression and self-actualisation

Consumption in this context is the reading of content contributed by other users. Participation occurs when people comment or express their opinion in writing on the content. Production is characterised by creating and contributing one's own content to the network. Currently, research on consumer activities in the online environment focuses mainly on user-generated content. It emphasises consumer communication and behaviour. It is based on the dichotomy of contributing and actual consumption.

The internet and the use of social media have fundamentally changed the consumer decision-making process. In the past, marketers assumed that consumers had a large number of brands in their minds to consider at the beginning of their purchase decision process, which they then methodically narrowed down until they selected a specific brand. Once the purchase is made, the consumer's relationship with the brand focuses on the use of the product or service itself. The unique aspects of social media and its immense popularity have revolutionized marketing practice, especially in marketing communications (Hanna, Rohn and Crittenden, 2011). Social media has further influenced consumer behaviour from information gathering to post-purchase consumer behaviour, which mainly represent the spread of satisfaction or dissatisfaction with the purchase, product or service made (Mangold and Faulds, 2009). The communication of a brand or a firm helps to create an image of the users who receive and process information, which subsequently leads to purchase decision making. The interactivity of the brand with the target segment through social media can be considered as an extremely important factor. The way the recipient evaluates the message is a determining indicator.

SOCIAL NETWORKS

Nowadays, social networks are certainly one of the biggest social, economic, cultural as well as communication phenomena in society. Bush and Mathur (2011) define social networks as tools providing easy to use interactive techniques and workspaces using a variety of communication tools. A social network is a webbased service operating through a website or an application that is also primarily designed for establishing and building new or permanent contacts. It is actually an online community that allows users to meet, interact with, and share various content with other members of the network through the use of a created profile. Social networking has a significant impact on marketing as well as marketing research. Social networks are a subset of social media. Communication on the Internet as well as the origin of social networks are closely related to the concept of Web 2.0. Ellison and Boyd (2007) refer to a social network as a service that originates from the web and allows users to create profiles in a bounded system, create lists of users with whom an individual shares a connection, and also allows viewing of other lists of users in the system. The use of social networking brings many benefits to users such as easier accessibility and exchange of information, the ability to share or hold discussions. Based on the above, it can be concluded that social networking is a type of online service that facilitates communication and information sharing. A characteristic feature is the creation of profiles that represent individual persons or organisations. Connections, 'friendships' or content subscriptions are a prerequisite.

The Association of Digital Marketing Agencies of Slovakia (2016) defined 4 types of social networks:

- Social networks focused on social relationships allowing you to keep in touch with friends, family or people in your professional environment. These include Facebook, Twitter and Google+,
- professional and professional provide users with the opportunity for professional growth, the most famous example of such a network is LinkedIn,
- multimedia their principle is to share multimedia content (Instagram, Youtube, Snapchat, etc.),
- informative they collect information and provide answers to various questions (Sashe).

The Internet today offers a diverse range of social networks. That is why it is important to know the preference of using social networks. From a global perspective, based on research by eBiz, the most popular social network is Facebook with over 1.1 billion users, followed by YouTube (1 billion), Twitter (310 million), LinkedIn (255 million) and Pinterest (250 million). Other social networks with 100 million or more include, Instagram and Tumblr. In this context, it is also essential to be aware of the significant local differences that determine the diversity of social network use in different regions. An example is Russia, where the most used social network Facebook is not the only one. The current trend can be considered to be a steady increase in the number of social network users as well as an increase in the number of social networks used by a single user. Social networks to communicate with consumers, run competitions or use them as a platform for their marketing communications. The use of social networking sites also has a significant impact on marketing research.

Based on the above knowledge gained by examining the perspectives of various authors on the issue, we conclude that consumer behaviour is an extremely important element for marketers when creating strategies for brands, products or services. Consumer behaviour can be broadly classified as decisions and actions that influence consumer buying behaviour. The indicators that drive consumers to choose a particular product over others are analysed and investigated by marketers. The selection processes associated with purchasing are based on emotions and reasoning. Marketers who know the typology of consumers, the factors influencing their behaviour or the perception of changes and trends in their behaviour gain important insights in a tough competitive battle. Digitalisation and the penetration of digital technologies into consumers' everyday lives are an inherent part of today's world. Experts point to the fact that it is the digital environment that has a significant impact on consumer behaviour.

1.6 Digital marketing tools

Digital marketing is a relatively new, interactive and specific branch of marketing, whose potential is conditioned by the characteristic attributes of new media. At present, digital marketing can be considered as applied to complex marketing. Frey (2011) considers the use of digital marketing tools for certain market segments more justified than traditional tools. Digital marketing encompasses a wide range of marketing communication operating on the principles of digital

technologies, including Internet tools, mobile communication, digital communication devices in outdoor and in-store environments. The difference between digital and traditional media lies in the ability of digital media not only to disseminate information but also to solicit feedback from customers (Macek, 2010). According to Frey (2011), digital marketing tools have attributes such as:

- timeliness, flexibility and effectiveness of the marketing message,
- fast, flexible and easy to change the content of the information disseminated,
- precise and effortless targeting of selected segments,
- integration of motion elements important when presenting marketing content using digital signage,
- the ability to build a positive image,
- the ability to instantly measure the effectiveness of campaigns,
- low cost per campaign,
- creating databases of information.

An important part of digital marketing is goal setting. A typical example of a digital marketing goal is to increase sales.

ONLINE ENVIRONMENT AS A PLATFORM FOR DIGITAL MARKETING

One of the most basic rules characteristic of the online environment can be considered to be speed. Changes in the online world come very quickly and it is essential for companies to react to these changes in a timely manner. The digital world is becoming an increasingly important part of the economy, both from the perspective of individual countries and the European Union as a whole. Research by the Institute for Public Affairs (Velsic, 2015) has shown that new phenomena are emerging as a result of the mass use of information technologies. In 2015, 49% of the world's population aged 14+ used the internet on a daily basis, with more than a third of users spending more than 3 hours online. The internet population represents over 70% of the total population. However, there are significant differences in user behaviour. These differences are mainly influenced by age, education, income, economic activity or regional affiliation. A survey by Miniwatts Marketing Group (2015) shows that 83.1% of Slovak citizens are

internet users. This is a significant change compared to 2000, when the number of Internet users was 12.1%.

A characteristic feature of modern consumers is the use of multiple devices at the same time. Given the amount of time today's population spends online via various digital devices, it is imperative that brands artfully combine the use of marketing communication tools between the online and offline media space. Therefore, the increase in the volume of advertising and brand building in the digital environment is on a steady upward trend. With the significant increase in the use of multiple devices - screens at the same time, the view of traditional media content consumption is changing. This phenomenon is called the *digital living room*. The digital living room is characterised by consumers using mobile devices with internet connectivity to consume traditional media such as television or radio. Through these devices, they search for additional information or interact with other consumers via social media. It is able to convert the stimuli themselves into a purchase within a short timeframe from the initial viewing of the communication message.

Google's Consumer Barometer (2015) points to the fact that 55% of people are connected online via digital devices while watching TV in parallel (Consumer Barometer, 2015). Of these, 44% use a computer, 48% a mobile phone and 18% a tablet. These results underline the enormous growth in the importance and use of mobile devices in today's society. The growing importance of mobile marketing and the use of mobile applications is characterized by (Chaffey, 2016):

- More than 50% of searches are conducted via mobile devices,
- 91% of active Facebook users use mobile devices to surf the web,
- Users spend 90% of their mobile media time in apps,
- 80% of the revenue generated from advertising on Facebook comes from mobile devices.

The most frequently researched industries by consumers in the online environment are (Zonemedia, 2017): accommodation (95%), transport (80%), airline tickets (87%), music (86%) and cinema tickets (78%). Consumers use mobile devices for a variety of activities leading to a purchase decision. 63% are comparing products, 56% are looking for inspiration, 52% are preparing to buy and 36% are looking for advice. It is the search for information in the online environment that represents the initial stage in the purchase decision process for up to 72% of consumers (Barometer, Google). In terms of the source of information for purchasing decisions, most consumers (69%) use search engines, followed by retailers' websites (32%), individual brands' websites (19%), price comparison sites (17%) and social networks (10%).

These facts point to the necessity of including digital marketing elements in the marketing strategy of companies. Janouch (2010) defines 4 basic steps leading to the successful implementation of digital marketing communication: *goal setting, knowing the customer, communication, providing a quality product.* The success of the implementation in this case depends on the ability and understanding of the behaviour of the target group of consumers. The massive spread of the use of mobile devices has created a phenomenon where the consumer can be in a brick-and-mortar store and virtually on a website at the same time. Thus, in many cases, the separation of offline and online space is becoming meaningless (Trebulova, 2014). It is websites that provide a source of information for consumers. More than half of the European population uses websites where price comparison tools are available in order to find the best deal. It is the ever-increasing importance of websites that puts a challenging goal in front of online marketing, similarly increasing website traffic and, in particular, increasing sales.

SELECTED DIGITAL MARKETING TOOLS

The emergence of digital marketing is closely linked to the advent of the internet. The beginnings of marketing activities in the online environment took place in the early 1990s. These were very simple forms of promoting products or services by sending trivial text emails.

Nowadays, however, digital marketing brings many more benefits and opportunities. Its advantage is that it can engage multiple consumer senses. The main advantages of digital marketing include the interactivity of getting feedback. The possibility of more precise targeting brings the advantage of being able to target a selected segment or socio-economic groups. Other advantages include better internet accessibility and high coverage. The Internet itself is a communication platform that allows the use of a global digital network to transmit information. Within this platform, we distinguish several communication channels. Nielsen's survey 'The consumer's path to purchase' (2011) identifies the factors in the digital sphere of influence that affect the consumer's process leading to a purchase. These include product search, online circulars, social media, mobile planning tools and e-commerce (electronic commerce).

WEB

The basis of the Internet is still the web - that is, a classic website. In terms of focus, they can be divided into commercial and non-commercial. Exclusively commercial websites include, for example, e-shops or sales websites. From the point of view of the applicability of marketing, it is necessary to distinguish between its use directly on the website within its content or indirectly through add-ons. An example of an add-on is the use of a variety of websites to allocate advertising in the form of a banner.

SEO

SEO from the English search engine optimization can be characterized as a tool for optimizing a site for search engines (the most famous include Google, Yahoo). Based on their own algorithms, search engines have the task of evaluating the relevance of the content of a web page, taking into account the keywords used by the user. Depending on the precision of the SEO implementation, individual web pages are ranked in the search results. The high ranking of a page in the search results is directly proportional to the traffic to the page. Thus, the goal of SEO is to obtain the highest possible positions in the search results. Based on a recent analysis of websites ranked in the top 30 positions in search, Searchmetrics found that text length increased by 25% in 2015 (compared to 2014).

SEM

The term SEM (search engine marketing) is a synonym for search engine marketing. This tool is mainly used when companies do not want to wait for the results of SEO optimization and are willing to invest funds from their marketing budgets in so-called sponsored links. Simply put, we can say that the use of SEM is the process of increasing traffic to a website by buying search engine advertising. 85% of web activity is carried out through tools such as search engines.

GRAPHIC ADVERTISING ONLINE

Online advertising is becoming an integral part of the communication mix of every company that wants to succeed in the tough competition for customers. This form of online advertising has many advantages. A significant attribute of online advertising is the high level of interactivity. The consumer has the opportunity to respond immediately to the communicated message of the advertisers. For marketers, the measurability of the effect of advertising is a particularly important factor. In order for online advertising to be sufficiently effective, it is necessary to pay attention to its placement, execution, imaginativeness and, last but not least, it is important to choose an adequate form. The web offers a variety of advertising options. Among the best known are:

- **Banner advertising** the oldest form, but still one of the most used today. It offers options ranging from a static combination of text and images to various cartoon animations, the use of photos, sound or video. Banner advertising can be divided according to format into: full banner (468x60 pix.), half banner (234x60 pix.), microbar (88x31 pix.) and skyscraper (120x600 pix.).
- **Contextual advertising** uses the principle of embedding an advertising message into web pages in the context of their content. The essence of contextual advertising consists in assigning keywords to advertising messages and comparing them with the thematic content of web pages. It is an effective way of targeting.
- **PPC (Pay per click)** This is pay per click targeting. Thanks to PPC advertising, it is possible to quickly and effectively increase traffic to a company's website. The most well-known PPC advertising systems in Slovakia include Adfox and Etarget. In the world, the most popular systems are Google AdSense, Yah oo!, Publisher Network and AdBrit e.
- **Pop-up advertising -** pop-ups with advertising messages. The most commonly used size of pop-up ads is 250x250px.
- Native advertising is advertising that is naturally embedded in the content of the page, but it is not contextual or intext. It appears as part of the site. It therefore has higher visibility as well as credibility. Its main advantage over traditional banners is that 99% of site visitors do not click on the banner (ADMA.SK, 2013).

E-MAILING

The term e-mail refers to electronic mail used to communicate via the Internet. E-mail marketing is still one of the best tools for communicating with consumers. It is e-mail that is used by many people on a daily basis. The main advantages of e-mail marketing include:

- fast campaign implementation,
- the possibility to personalise your campaign,
- high rate of return on investment,
- relatively low costs for preparing and sending campaigns,
- the possibility of active communication with beneficiaries,
- a space for spreading the message by the recipients themselves,
- interactivity through the use of automatic responses and their triggers,
- measurability and statistical evaluation of campaign effectiveness.

Important features of email marketing are proactivity and the possibility of personalization. These facts significantly increase the effectiveness of individual campaigns. However, this form of marketing needs to be done responsibly and legally. Spam is a big problem nowadays and makes it very difficult to carry out e-mail marketing activities. The disadvantage is that despite compliance with laws such as the Law on Advertising (No. 147/2001 Coll.), the Law on Electronic Commerce (No. 22/2004 Coll.) and the Law on Electronic Communication (No. 610/2003 Coll.), which regulates the sending of advertising materials, many people have a subconscious aversion to this form of marketing. Many experts consider it essential to comply with the conditions, which are to voluntarily subscribe to e-mail messages, to allow the recipient to unsubscribe at any time and, in particular, not to use purchased databases of e-mail addresses. The basic metrics for evaluating effectiveness are:

- Open rate this is the ratio of recipients who opened the mail in relation to all recipients of the mail.
- Click through rate the proportion of recipients who clicked on the link in the received email and were therefore redirected to e.g. an e-shop.
- Deliverability is a measure for recognizing the quality of the database and the distribution tool. It represents the ratio of delivered mails to sent mails.
- Unsubscription rate the number of contacts that have prevented receiving further messages from the sender.
- The turnover from the mailing.
- Turnover per sent email the value of the contact in the database.
- Return on investment.

Open rate for promotional campaigns is between 5-20%, CTR between 30-50%. Deliverability is around 85%, top tools can approach values around 96%.

ADWORDS

It is a sophisticated ad system that allows you to serve search ads on Google and its network of partner sites. It works on the principle of credit recharge. The advertiser first recharges the credit, which is then deducted based on the number of clicks on a given ad.

REMARKETING

Remarketing is an online marketing tool that allows you to serve ads to people who have visited your company's website in the past. Its purpose is to reach consumers who have visited a website but have not made a conversion, such as a purchase. This is done by displaying relevant advertisements on the different devices used by consumers. The main advantages of remarketing are:

- reaching people in time,
- lists tailored to the advertising objectives of the advertiser,
- wide range,
- efficient pricing,
- simple ad creation,
- stats regarding the campaign,
- Reaching customers at a time when they are actively searching for a company through search engines.

VIRAL MARKETING

Viral marketing is a marketing technique that uses various social networks and communities to quickly spread certain information in order to promote a product or company. The average internet user spends approximately 16 minutes a month watching online promotional videos. 87% of marketers use video. 64% of consumers have an increased tendency to make an online purchase of a product after watching a video, and as many as 90% of consumers say that product videos are a significant factor in their decisionmaking process. In 2016, over \$5.5 billion was spent on video ads in the U.S. (hubspot.com, 2016)

AFFILIATE MARKETING

Affiliate marketing is a performance-based marketing tool that rewards one or more affiliate partners for each visitor or customer brought to a business's website. There are four key players in this field: *the seller*, the *network* (which contains a selection of offers that the affiliate can recommend further and is also in charge of payments and disbursements), the *publisher* (the so-called "affiliate partner" who offers a good or service to third - parties) and the *customer*.

Online advertising revenues in the first half of 2016 increased by 26% compared to the first half of 2015. The Interactive Advertising Bureau - IAB (2016)Slovakia survey on the percentage share of individual advertising categories confirmed the strong position of *display advertising* with a share of 63%. Display advertising includes: banners, buttons, skyscrapers, overlays, interstitials, pop ups, mobile display, video advertising. Search-based *display advertising* has a share of 23%. The *Classifieds and directories* category, *which includes contextual PPC and catalogue advertising, has a share of 12%.*

OMNICHANNEL AND MULTICHANNEL MARKETING AS NEW TRENDS

The development of new technologies is also putting pressure on the development of new marketing strategies, which has been reflected in new elements in professional terminology. Within the e-commerce marketing strategies, two frequent terms - multichannel marketing and omnichannel marketing - are also noticeable. Despite the very similar core of both terms, it is important to define the differences in their definition. Cecere (et. al 2010) state that the term 'social commerce' is determined by the use of social technologies in order to connect, listen, understand and engage in the process of improving the shopping experience. Consumer involvement adds a new dimension to the traditional AIDA model defined by Kierzowski (et. al 1996). The added value of consumer involvement from the perspective of businesses lies in gaining marketing information, particularly about consumers' preferences during interactions with them on a personal level.

Omnichannel Marketing

The word Omni from the Latin omnis means all or universal. Omnichannel, which increasingly represents the key to success for companies as consumers engage in different ways in brick-and-mortar stores, on websites, virtual catalogues or social media. Consumers use a diverse range of tools in order to shop and access services. The modern consumer also interacts with brands and companies using means such as various apps available on smartphones, tablets or computers. It should be in the interest of businesses to ensure that each consumer experience is consistent and complementary.

Multichannel Marketing

The term Multichannel Marketing represents the ability to communicate with potential customers on different platforms individually. This form of marketing focuses on the different parts of omnichannel marketing, and there are different communication channels it uses. These include print advertising, promotional events, retail activity, website, etc. From the perspective of businesses, multichannel marketing is a way in which they are able to increase their sales quickly. These businesses mostly have their own departments dedicated to social media marketing or email marketing in order to achieve individual goals.

One of the most important challenges that marketers and their organizations face when transitioning to omni-channel strategies is knowing the difference between omni-marketing and multi-channel marketing. Many organizations are struggling to move from a sales focus to customer-centric practices. The challenge is also to put the consumer at the forefront and create integrated experiences for them. A multichannel strategy uses multiple channels available to the consumer but these channels are not interconnected. On the other hand, an omnichannel strategy implies the interconnection of channels that are accessible to the consumer. Omnichannel and multichannel marketing are distinct marketing strategies, although both focus on the use of multiple channels to reach the consumer. Marketers need to understand the need to shift towards a global effort in order to increase customer retention rates and the resulting revenue.

2 Research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022

The first chapter of the scientific monograph defined the factors influencing consumer behaviour and consumer typology. It also focused on the description of consumer behaviour patterns and trends. A significant part of the previous chapter was devoted to digital marketing and its tools. However, the focus of the scientific monograph did not end there and it was necessary to empirically verify what changes have occurred in consumer behaviour in the era of digital marketing. The basis was the implementation of a research study entitled *Changes in Consumer Behaviour SK-CBCH 2022*. The second chapter not only describes the process of conducting the research study, the structure of the sample, but also presents the basic findings necessary to draw the consequences.

However, at the beginning of the chapter it will be necessary to look at how the topic of consumer behaviour in the digital era resonates in academia. It will be done by analysing available research studies elaborated in scholarly papers by international colleagues.

2. 1 Systematic review of academic research studies

The issue of changes in consumer behaviour in the era of digital marketing has become popular not only among the professional public, but has also found a response in the academic and scientific spheres and is currently elaborated in many publications and papers, which, however, it adapts too much their view on the common circle of their readers. A number of professional monographs have also been published which deal responsibly with this issue in contemporary corporate practice. Particularly noteworthy are the works that give the reader a comprehensive professional view of the subject (Rodrigues, M. - Proena, J. 2022; Bartosik-Purgat, M. - Filimon, N. 2022).

In order to form a picture of the resonance of this issue in the academic environment, an analysis of the available knowledge in the form of papers published in peer-reviewed scientific journals and conference proceedings was carried out. The Web of Science database was chosen as a reference database, which was sufficient in terms of its scope and focus on credible outputs with regard to the problem addressed. A modified approach of systematic review of academic literature (PRISMA) was chosen.

Diagram 1: Selection process of the scientific papers included in the analysis



Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

Given the intention to review available scientific papers on changes in consumer behaviour from a digital marketing perspective, the search was limited to the years 2016 to 2022. The keywords were chosen with respect to the thematic focus of the analysis. This initial step yielded 2,793 outputs in the Web of Science database, which were exclusively peer-reviewed papers in scientific journals and conference proceedings. The interdisciplinarity of the subject matter is evidenced by Figure 1, which shows the categories with the largest number of published papers. Figure 1: Selected categories of scientific journals and conference proceedings registered in the Web of Science database with the largest number of published papers on consumer behaviour change in the digital marketing era (n=2793).



Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

After reducing the categories to those related to the fields of economics, business and management, the number of results was reduced to 804 entries. The following table shows the number of papers by selected categories of scientific journals and proceedings as ranked by the Web of Science database.

Table 1: Selected categories of scientific journals and proceedings registered in the Web of Science database oriented to the field of business, economics and management (n=804).

Web of Science Categories	Record Count	%
Business	497	62
Management	204	25
Economics	103	13

After excluding papers that were not written in English (164 papers) and papers that were not indexed in the most reputable scientific journals and conference proceedings (289 papers), an initial database of 351 potentially relevant articles was compiled. An overview of the scientific journals in which these papers were published, together with the number of papers in each journal, is shown in the table below.

Journal Titles	Record Count
Journal Of Business Research	33
Journal Of Retailing And Consumer Services	32
Journal Of Research In Interactive Marketing	28
Journal Of Sport Management	22
Journal Of Theoretical And Applied Electronic Commerce Research	13
Sport Marketing Quarterly	13
Technological Forecasting And Social Change	11
Psychology Marketing	9
Journal Of Business Ethics	8
Electronic Commerce Research And Applications	6
European Journal Of Marketing	6
Management Science	6
International Journal Of Contemporary Hospitality Management	5
Journal Of Product And Brand Management	5
Applied Economic Perspectives And Policy	4
Business Horizons	4
Clothing And Textiles Research Journal	4
International Journal Of Bank Marketing	4
International Journal Of Market Research	4
Journal Of Hospitality Marketing Management	4
Journal Of Interactive Marketing	4
Journal Of International Business Studies	4
Marketing Letters	4
Marketing Science	4
Rbgn Revista Brasileira De Gestao De Negocios	4
Tourism Management	4
Electronic Commerce Research	3
Electronic Markets	3
Journal Of Electronic Commerce Research	3
Journal Of Services Marketing	3
Journal Of Vacation Marketing	3
Marketing Intelligence Planning	3
Sport Management Review	3
Others	85

From the overview of the development of the number of publications and citations by year, it is clear that the interest in this issue appears continuously during the whole time period.





Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

Manual review of the titles and abstracts of all articles identified through this process helped to remove unrelated articles, leaving a total of 56 articles in journals and proceedings for further analysis. For the remaining articles, while relevance and eligibility were not clear in the title or abstract, a full-text screening was performed. After this screening process, 35 studies were excluded.

A total of 21 papers were selected for the final systematic review of papers. The list of papers included in the literature review on the topic of consumer behaviour change in the digital marketing era is presented in Table 3.

After a thorough study of the papers, it can be concluded that the issue of changes in consumption behaviour is treated differently in the academic space, varying according to the country of origin of the authors of the article.

Table 3: List of 21 papers included in the literature review on the topic of changes in consumer behaviour in the era of digital marketing	anges in consumer behav	iour in the era of digital mark	keting
Title	Authors	Source	Year
Revisiting the impact of perceived social value on consumer behavior toward luxury brands	Reyes-Menendez, Ana; Palos-Sanchez, Pedro; Ramon Saura, Jose; Rodriguez Santos, Carmen	European Management Journal	2022
Leveraging consumer behavior research to forge new insights into B2B buyer behavior: Contextualizing extant research and developing a research agenda	Mohan, Mayoor; Casidy, Riza; Thaichon, Park; Nyadzayo, Munyaradzi	Industrial Marketing Management	2022
Government Policy, Strategic Consumer Behavior, and Spillovers to Retailers: The Case of Demonetization in India	Kim, Yewon; Chintagunta, Pradeep K.; To, Bhuvanesh Pareek	Marketing Science	2022
The impact of weather on consumer behavior and retail performance: Evidence from a convenience store chain in China	Tian, Xin; Cao, Shasha; Song, Yan	Journal Of Retailing And Consumer Services	2021
COVID-19 ads on purchase intention of online consumer behavior as business innovation activity: A contribution to the uses and gratification theory	Mejia-Trejo, Juan	Electronic Commerce Research And Applications	2021
The business analysis on the home-bias of E-commerce consumer behavior	Huang, Wei-Lun; Hu, Peng; Tsai, Sophia; Chen, Xi-Ding	Electronic Commerce Research	2021
Sport Brands: Brand Relationships and Consumer Behavior	Kunkel, Thilo; Biscaia, Rui	Sport Marketing Quarterly	2020
How corporate social responsibility (CSR) saves a company: The role of gratitude in buffering vindictive consumer behavior from product failures	Kim, Junghyun; Park, Tachoon	Journal Of Business Research	2020
The role of financial innovations in consumer behavior in the Russian retail payments market	Krivosheya, Egor	Technological Forecasting And Social Change	2020
The effect of activity identity fusion on negative consumer behavior	Hawkins, Matthew A.	Psychology & Marketing	2019
Globalization, national identity, biculturalism and consumer behavior: A longitudinal study of Dutch consumers	Sobol, Kamila; Cleveland, Mark; Laroche, Michel	Journal Of Business Research	2018
Retailers beware: On denied product returns and consumer behavior	Dailey, Lynn C.; Ulku, M. Ali	Journal Of Business Research	2018

mai
gital
e era of digital m
ra 0
in tl
our
lavi
beł
changes in consumer behaviour in th
s in
hange
of c
topic (
the 1
0U
the literature review on the topic of ch
erature
lite
led in
ude
nclı
pers i
1 pa
of 2
ist
3: L
Table (
Ξ

- continued	D	D	D
Title	Authors	Source	Year
From ownership to access: how the sharing economy is changing the consumer behavior	Barbu, Catalin Mihail; Laurentiu Florea, Dorian; Ogarca, Radu Florin; Barbu, Mihai Constantin Razvan	Amfiteatru Economic	2018
Exploring the Relative Effectiveness of Emotional, Rational, and Combination Advertising Appeals on Sport Consumer Behavior	Lee, Seunghwan; Heere, Bob	Sport Marketing Quarterly	2018
Cross Channel Consumer Behavior and its Benefits: Scale Validation to Assess Purchasing Process Performance	Porto, Rafael Barreiros; Okada, Sionara Ioco	Rbgn-Revista Brasileira De Gestao De Negocios	2018
On the significance of statistically insignificant results in consumer behavior experiments	Peterson, Robert A.; Umesh, U. N.	Journal Of The Academy Of Marketing Science	2018
Generational perspective on consumer behavior: China's potential outbound tourist market	Huang, Qunfang; Lu, Yuqi	Tourism Management Perspectives	2017
The compelling urge to misbehave: Do impulse purchases instigate unethical consumer behavior?	Bossuyt, Saar; Vermeir, Iris; Slabbinck, Hendrik; De Bock, Tine; Van Kenhove, Patrick	Journal Of Economic Psychology	2017
The Need to Give Gratuitously: A Relevant Concept Anchored in Catholic Social Teaching to Envision the Consumer Behavior	de Peyrelongue, Benedicte; Masclef, Olivier; Guillard, Valerie	Journal Of Business Ethics	2017
Modeling online consumer behavior: Preeminence of emotions and moderating influences of need for cognition and optimal stimulation level	Richard, Marie-Odile; Chebat, Jean Charles	Journal Of Business Research	2016
A dirty store is a cost forever: The harmful influence of disorderly retail settings on unethical consumer behavior	Bossuyt, Saar; Van Kenhove, Patrick; De Bock, Tine	International Journal Of Research In Marketing	2016

Table 3: List of 21 papers included in the literature review on the topic of changes in consumer behaviour in the era of digital marketing

2. 2 Selected findings of the research study SK-CBCH 2022

In the context of presenting the results of the authors' investigation of the scientific monograph, we are concerned with the identification of the output of the quantitative research, including the presentation of a graphical representation of them. In the following section, we will use the knowledge gained from the quantitative research in order to verify the hypotheses expressed and their subsequent acceptance or rejection. Based on the knowledge gained, it will then be possible to propose recommendations for the academic community as well as management practice.

The following results represent the desired outcome of the application part:

- Interpretation and graphical representation of the conducted quantitative research,
- Verification of the hypotheses and research questions based on the results of the research and the use of selected statistical methods,
- Propose recommendations and develop specific proposals in relation to the problem addressed, then propose a model of applicability in management practice.

The successful implementation of the quantitative research was conditional on reaching and distributing an adequate number of questionnaires so that the partial objective of reaching a relevant and sufficiently large sample could be met. The selection of respondents was done through random sampling method. Due to the fact that the survey focuses on the digital consumer, the questionnaires were sent in the form of an online questionnaire. Several online platforms were used for sending the questionnaire, in particular e-mail and Facebook. The survey was conducted in the months of April and May 2022 and was conducted in Slovak language. Out of the total number of respondents contacted, we received responses from 454 respondents. The first question was: "How much time do you spend online every day?" we tried to find out the frequency of internet usage of the respondents in their daily routine.

Of the total number of respondents contacted, 454 respondents commented on the question, with most respondents saying they spend between 4 and 6 hours online per day, accounting for 35.7% of responses; 29.1% spend between 1 and 3 hours online. Conversely, the least number of respondents, 6.6%, spend less than an

hour online. The results to the question are also interpreted graphically in Chart 2 below.



Chart 2: How much time do you spend online each day? (n = 454, data in %)

Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

The second question asked about respondents' preferences in terms of the devices they use to connect to the Internet. The question was worded "From which device do you most often go online?" 454 respondents answered and the most common answer was "smartphone", which accounted for 77.1%. the second most used device was a laptop, with 15% of respondents seeing this alternative. Conversely, the least used devices for the purpose of connecting online are desktops and tablets, cited by an identical 0.4% of respondents.

Chart 3: From which device do you connect online most often? (n = 454, data in %)



Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

Question 3 was a follow-up to the previous question, seeking to identify the device through which consumers most frequently connected online 5 years ago. From the answers given, it can be concluded that 5 years ago the situation was radically

different compared to today. In particular, the most used devices for connecting to the Internet were the laptop (48.9%) and the desktop computer (43.2%). The smartphone, which according to the respondents is the most used device nowadays, was used by 7% of the respondents 5 years ago, which represents a significant change. A tablet was used by 0.9% of respondents.





Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

In the following question 4, we surveyed the most frequent activities carried out on the Internet. The results showed that social networking activities account for a very significant share of activities with 52.4%. 13.7% use the Internet to search for information, 12.3% to browse websites and 11% for work activities. The least frequent activities are playing games and watching movies, with 0.4% each. The results of the survey clearly show the ever-increasing importance of social networks and their use in the daily lives of today's population.

Chart 5: What is your most frequent online activity? (n = 454, data in %)



Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

In terms of using the Internet for shopping purposes, question 5 asked whether consumers shop online. 92.1% of respondents answered yes and 7.9% said they do not shop online.



Chart 6: Do you shop online? (n = 454, data in %)

Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

In question 6, we focused on respondents who indicated in the previous question that they shop online. The question focused on the factors that lead consumers to make online purchases. 25.3% answered that the product offer leads them to buy online, 23% the time saving, 20.3% the convenience, 17.5% the price and 13.8% the flexibility of the purchase.

Chart 7: Which of the following factors lead you to shop online? (n = 454, data in %)



Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

The issue of the content of the purchases was addressed in question 7 with the wording: What kind of products do you most often buy online? Clothing is the

most frequently purchased product, reported by 35% of respondents, followed by electronics at 24.4% and airline tickets or holidays at 15.2%. The least, 1.4%, shop online for groceries.



Chart 8: What kind of products do you buy most often online? (n = 454, data in %)

Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

In question 8, we asked what is the most common source of pre-purchase information, with the majority of respondents - 82% - stating that they most often get their pre-purchase information from the internet. 7.8% get their information from family and friends. The smallest number of respondents mentioned the press (0.5%).

Chart 9: What is your most common source of information before buying? (n = 454, data in %)



Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

Following on from the previous question, we wanted to find out what specific online source of information is used by the respondents who said that the internet

is the most common source of information for them. The dominant responses included internet search engines (32.4%) and dealer websites. 16% use social media for this purpose and 13.3% consider the opinions given on discussion boards to be relevant.

Chart 10: If you mentioned the Internet in the previous question, which of the following online resources do you use most often? (n = 454, data in %)



Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

Question 10 focuses on identifying the most common source of pre-purchase information 5 years ago. Among the respondents, the most reported - 35% - brick-and-mortar stores, 24.4% the Internet and 21.2% information from family and friends. Based on the above, we can observe a change compared to the current situation addressed in question 8. There is no doubt that the increase in the influence of the Internet on pre-purchase information search is extremely significant. The responses also show a decline in the use of bricks-and-mortar shops or television as a source of pre-purchase information.

Chart 11: What was your most common source of information before you bought 5 years ago? (n = 454, data in %)



Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

In the following question 11, we investigated the payment method used by consumers when shopping online. The most common answer was card payment (47.5%), with 19.4% preferring to pay in cash when collecting in person. Cash on delivery was the payment method mentioned by 14.7%. The least of the respondents use PayPal (4.1%).

Chart 12: What payment method do you use when shopping online? (n = 454,





Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

In terms of social media usage, we focused on observing this change over 5 years. Chart 15 shows the responses of social media usage nowadays, with social media usage up to 96.9% which represents 440 respondents, Only 14 people stated that they do not use social media and this represents 3.1%.





Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

Chart 16 shows the responses to the question of whether respondents used social media 5 years ago. 81.9% saw that they did and 18.1% did not use social media 5 years ago. Based on the comparison, a 15% increase is noticeable. As well as stating the absolute penetration of social media into everyday lives.



Chart 14: Did you use social media 5 years ago? (n = 454, data in %)

Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

In the next question, we explored which platforms are most used within social media. Respondents were given the opportunity to give multiple choices. Facebook was the most used platform, cited by 94.3%, followed by YouTube with 76.7%. Tumblr was the least used with 1.8%, while 3.1% of respondents did not use any of the options listed.



Chart 15: Which of these platforms do you use? (n = 454, data in %)

Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

Question 15 asked for responses to 3 sub-questions on a scale of 1 to 5, with 1 being the most and 5 being the least. In the first, we examined whether respondents shared information On-line. The responses showed that the majority

took a neutral stance. In the second, we investigated whether the respondents follow the shared information. Within the responses, respondents were inclined to follow the information. In terms of giving importance to the information shared, the majority again expressed a neutral attitude.

Chart 16: On a scale of 1(least) - 5(most), please indicate: do you share information online? Do you follow the information you share? Do you give weight to the information you share? (n = 454, data in %)



Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

As part of the question about following publicly known people who influence public opinion (influencers), we asked what proportion of respondents follow influencers. The survey results showed that 41.9% follow influencers and 58.1% do not follow influencers.

Chart 17: Do you follow influencers on social networks? (n = 454, data in %)



Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

In question 17, we focused on the level of agreement with the statement: "Information shared by others can influence me in my purchasing decisions". The

level of agreement could be expressed on a scale from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). We note that the largest proportion of respondents, 40.1%, expressed neutral attitudes. At the same time, 13.7% expressed absolute disagreement in the above statement and 4.8% expressed absolute agreement.

Chart 18: To what extent do you agree with the statement: Information shared by others online can influence my buying behaviour? 1 (strongly disagree) - 5 (strongly agree) (n = 454, data in %)



Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

328 women and 126 men participated in the research. The result shows a significant percentage predominance of women. Considering the fact that the questionnaire was distributed through several online platforms and also noting that there is no assumption that it was sent to groups where the female gender is overrepresented, we assume that the significant percentage difference between the genders of the respondents is due to the "honesty factor" of the female respondents.





Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

In terms of age structure, there was a wide representation of different generations, with the largest group being aged between 20 and 25 years, while the smallest number of respondents were over 60 years of age.



Chart 20: Age of respondents (n = 454, data in %)

Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

2. 3 Verifying hypotheses and answering research questions

On the basis of the data obtained from the quantitative survey, we concluded that the impact of modern technologies or the Internet on the lives of respondents is in most cases very significant. Among the most prominent trends is the activity on social networks. At the same time, we observe a change in terms of the use of devices in order to connect to the Internet, where nowadays smartphones dominate, whereas five years ago desktop computers or laptops were more prevalent. We note that online shopping has earned a prominent place in the lives of many consumers.

The present scientific monograph provides an overview of the changes and trends in consumer behaviour under the influence of the digitalisation of society. Within the monograph it is necessary to take into account the interconnection of the theoretical perspective of various authors with the conceptual definition of the state of the problem applied to a selected sample of consumers in Slovakia. The research was carried out in order to know the state of Slovak consumers in terms of Internet use, the use of devices for the purpose of connecting to the Internet, their activities and, in particular, to find out any changes in their behaviour over the last five years. We assume that the significant level of digitalisation and the penetration of the Internet into consumers' everyday lives has also brought about changes in their behaviour in the context of the use of modern digital technologies and the impact of selected digital marketing tools. We used mathematical and statistical methods to obtain answers to the research questions. Specifically, we focused on the use of chi-square goodness-of-fit test. In order to evaluate the conducted research, we used the IBM SPSS statistical program.

VO1: IS THERE A CORRELATION BETWEEN THE AGE OF THE CONSUMER AND THE TIME SPENT ONLINE?

Through the first cross-tabulation, we investigated the relationship between the age of the respondents and the time they spend on the Internet.

			ve	k * čas Crosstabula	ition			
					čas			Total
			1 až 3 hodiny	10 a viac hodín	4 až 6 hodín	7 až 9 hodín	menej ako 1 hodinu	
	40 40 miliari	Count	6	10	14	4	2	36
16 - 19 rokov	% within vek	16,7%	27,8%	38,9%	11,1%	5,6%	100,0%	
	20 - 25 rokov	Count	64	30	106	40	0	240
	20 - 25 rokov	% within vek	26,7%	12,5%	44,2%	16,7%	0,0%	100,0%
	26 22 selvev	Count	26	20	24	16	6	92
	26 - 32 rokov	% within vek	28,3%	21,7%	26,1%	17,4%	6,5%	100,0%
vek	33 - 40 rokov	Count	10	0	8	4	4	26
ver		% within vek	38,5%	0,0%	30,8%	15,4%	15,4%	100,0%
	41 - 50 rokov	Count	20	2	4	2	10	38
	41 - 50 TOKOV	% within vek	52,6%	5,3%	10,5%	5,3%	26,3%	100,0%
	51 - 60 rokov	Count	4	2	2	0	8	16
	51-00T0K0V	% within vek	25,0%	12,5%	12,5%	0,0%	50,0%	100,0%
	60 a viac rokov	Count	2	0	4	0	0	6
	OU A VIAC TOROV	% within vek	33,3%	0,0%	66,7%	0,0%	0,0%	100,0%
Total		Count	132	64	162	66	30	454
Total		% within vek	29,1%	14,1%	35,7%	14,5%	6,6%	100,0%

 Table 4: Cross-tabulation of age vs. time

Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	138,791ª	24	,000
Likelihood Ratio	126,805	24	,000
N of Valid Cases	454		

Based on the chi-square test of goodness of fit, we can conclude that given the statistical significance value of the explanatory variable - 0.000 (with 0.000 < 0.05), there is a relationship between the age of consumers and the time spent on the Internet.

VO2: IS THERE A STATISTICALLY SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE SEXES IN THE TIME THEY SPEND DAILY ON THE INTERNET?

Table 6: Cross-tabulation of gender vs. time

			pohl	avie * čas Crosstab	ulation			
					čas			Total
	1 až 3 hodiny 10 a viac hodín 4 až 6 hodín 7 až 9 hodín menej ako 1 hodinu							
muž	Count	Count	40	16	52	10	8	126
	% within pohlavie	31,7%	12,7%	41,3%	7,9%	6,3%	100,0%	
pohlavie	žena	Count	92	48	110	56	22	328
	zena	% within pohlavie	28,0%	14,6%	33,5%	17,1%	6,7%	100,0%
Total		Count	132	64	162	66	30	454
TUTAL		% within pohlavie	29,1%	14,1%	35,7%	14,5%	6,6%	100,0%

Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

Table 7: Cross-tabulation of gender vs. time - Chi-square test

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-
			sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	7,441ª	4	,114
Likelihood Ratio	8,069	4	,089
N of Valid Cases	454		

Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

In this case, there was a situation where the value of statistical significance was greater than 5%, namely the value of Asymp. Sig. = 0.114, that is, it is not possible to confirm the dependence between the gender of the consumer and the time per day they spend on the Internet.

VO3: IS THERE A CORRELATION BETWEEN THE DEVICE MOST USED BY RESPONDENTS TO CONNECT TO THE INTERNET NOWADAYS AND THE TIME THEY SPEND PER DAY ON THE INTERNET?

The results of chi-square goodness-of-fit test, where we wanted to see whether the explanatory variable of device affects the explanatory variable of time spent on the Internet. In this case the value is 0.000 which is less than 0.005 and thus we can confirm the existence of a relationship between the variables under study. Thus, an important finding from the conducted research is the fact that the device used influences the amount of time a consumer spends daily online

			zariadenie1 * č	as Crosstabulation				
					čas			Total
			1 až 3 hodiny	10 a viac hodín	4 až 6 hodín	7 až 9 hodín	menej ako 1 hodinu	
Mobilný telefón	Count	0	0	0	0	2	2	
	wobliny telefon	% within zariadenie1	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	100,0%	100,0%
	Matchast	Count	18	10	20	12	8	68
	Notebook	% within zariadenie1	26,5%	14,7%	29,4%	17,6%	11,8%	100,0%
zariadenie1 Smartfón	Orentfér	Count	104	52	132	46	16	350
	Smartion	% within zariadenie1	29,7%	14,9%	37,7%	13,1%	4,6%	100,0%
	Count	10	2	8	8	4	32	
	Stolový počítač	% within zariadenie1	31,2%	6,2%	25,0%	25,0%	12,5%	100,0%
	Count	0	0	2	0	0	2	
	Tablet	% within zariadenie1	0,0%	0,0%	100,0%	0,0%	0,0%	100,0%
Total		Count	132	64	162	66	30	454
TULAI		% within zariadenie1	29,1%	14,1%	35,7%	14,5%	6,6%	100,0%

Table 8: Cross-tabulation of equipment today vs. time

Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

Table 9: Cross-tabulation of equipment today vs. time - Chi-square test

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-
			sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	45,813ª	16	,000
Likelihood Ratio	28,415	16	,028
N of Valid Cases	454		

HYPOTHESIS 1: WE HYPOTHESIZE THAT THERE IS A RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE VARIABLES UNDER STUDY - THE DEVICE CONSUMERS USE TO GO ONLINE AND SOCIAL MEDIA USAGE.

The research conducted focused on comparing the dependency between the device consumers use to go online and their use of social media. The research compared the current situation with five years ago. In the research we found that there is a correlation between the device that consumers use to connect online and the use of social media applied to the current situation, since the value of Asymp. Sig. Based on Pearson chi-square test takes the value of 0.000.

Table 10: Cross-tabulation of devices today vs. social media

zariadenie1 * socialne_media Crosstabulation										
			socialne	e_media	Total					
			áno	nie						
	المراجع والمراجع والمراجع	Count	2	0	2					
	Mobilný telefón	% within zariadenie1	100,0%	0,0%	100,0%					
Notebook zariadenie1 Smartfón	Notobaak	Count	64	4	68					
	NOLEDOOK	% within zariadenie1	94,1%	5,9%	100,0%					
	Omostfán	Count	348	2	350					
	Smartion	% within zariadenie1	99,4%	0,6%	100,0%					
	Stolový počítač	Count	24	8	32					
	Stolovy pocitac	% within zariadenie1	75,0%	25,0%	100,0%					
	Tablet	Count	2	0	2					
	Tablet	% within zariadenie1	100,0%	0,0%	100,0%					
Total		Count	440	14	454					
1 otai		% within zariadenie1	96,9%	3,1%	100,0%					

Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-
			sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	60,731ª	4	,000
Likelihood Ratio	33,914	4	,000
N of Valid Cases	454		

In terms of examining the relationship between the same variables but five years ago, the chi-square test determined the value of Asymp. Sig. = 0,000. Based on the above, we can conclude that just like today, five years ago there is a correlation between the device consumers use to go online and the use of social media, since the value of Asymp. Sig. Based on the Pearson chi-square test takes the value of 0.000.

Table 12: Cross-tabulation of device 5 years	ago vs. social media 5 years ago
--	----------------------------------

zariadenie2 * socialne_media(5r) Crosstabulation										
			socialne_	media(5r)	Total					
			áno	nie						
	Natabaak	Count	200	22	222					
	Notebook	% within zariadenie2	90,1%	9,9%	100,0%					
	Omodfán	Count	24	8	32					
aniadania?	Smartfón	% within zariadenie2	75,0%	25,0%	100,0%					
zariadenie2	01-1	Count	146	50	196					
	Stolový počítač	% within zariadenie2	74,5%	25,5%	100,0%					
	Tablat	Count	2	2	4					
	Tablet	% within zariadenie2	50,0%	50,0%	100,0%					
Total		Count	372	82	454					
Total		% within zariadenie2	81,9%	18,1%	100,0%					

Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

Table 13: Cross-tabulation of device 5 years ago vs. social media 5 years ago	
- Chi Square test	

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	21,114ª	3	,000
Likelihood Ratio	21,277	3	,000
N of Valid Cases	454		

Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

Comparing the two study periods, we conclude that there has been no change in consumer behaviour in terms of the above variables, despite a noticeable increase in the use of social networking sites as well as a change in the use of digital devices through which consumers connect online.

HYPOTHESIS 2: WITHIN HYPOTHESIS 2 WE PROCEEDED TO DIVIDE IT INTO 2 PARTS, WHILE WITHIN HYPOTHESIS H2A WE ASSUME THAT THERE IS NO DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE EXAMINED VARIABLES - THE USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA IN RELATION TO THE MOST FREQUENT SOURCE OF INFORMATION USED BY CONSUMERS BEFORE PURCHASE NOW AND FIVE YEARS AGO, AND AT THE SAME TIME WITHIN H2B WE ASSUME THAT THERE IS A DEPENDENCE BETWEEN THE VARIABLES IN BOTH EXAMINED PERIODS.

Hypothesis 2 compares the current situation with that of five years ago in terms of examining the dependence between social media use in relation to the most common source of information used by consumers before they make a purchase. The research assumed a comparison of two time periods - the current situation and the situation five years ago, which led to the assumption of dividing it into 2 parts.

Table 14: Cross-tabulation of social media vs. information source

			socialne_n	nedia * zdroj_info Cr	osstabulation					
				zdroj_info						
				ani jedna z uvedených možností	informácie od rodiny a známych	internet	kamenná predajňa	tlač		
		Count	18	18	34	346	22	2	440	
ancieles modie	áno	% within socialne_media	4,1%	4,1%	7,7%	78,6%	5,0%	0,5%	100,0%	
socialne_media	nia	Count	2	2	0	10	0	0	14	
nie	nie	% within socialne_media	14,3%	14,3%	0,0%	71,4%	0,0%	0,0%	100,0%	
Total		Count	20	20	34	356	22	2	454	
Total		% within socialne_media	4,4%	4,4%	7,5%	78,4%	4,8%	0,4%	100,0%	

Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

Table 15:	Cross-tabulation	of	social	media	vs.	information	source -	Chi
Square tes	t							

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	8,338ª	5	,139
Likelihood Ratio N of Valid Cases	7,807 454	5	,167

In the research, we obtained Asymp values based on Pearson chi-square goodness-of-fit test. Sig. = 0,139. Based on this finding, it can be concluded that the variables under study are not dependent. In this case, we conclude that the use of social media does not influence which source of information consumers use most often before making a purchase.

Table 16: Cross-tabulation of social media 5 years ago vs. information source 5 years ago

socialne_media(5r) * zdroj_info2 Crosstabulation											
						zdroj	_info2				Total
				ani jedna z uvedených	informácie od rodiny a známych	internet	kamenná predajňa	obchodný zástupca	televízia	tlač	
				možností							ļ/
	Count áno % withir	Count	12	16	84	98	120	4	24	14	372
analisian madia(Ca)		% within socialne_media(5r)	3,2%	4,3%	22,6%	26,3%	32,3%	1,1%	6,5%	3,8%	100,0%
socialne_media(5r)		Count	8	10	8	8	32	0	14	2	82
nie	nie	% within socialne_media(5r)	9,8%	12,2%	9,8%	9,8%	39,0%	0,0%	17,1%	2,4%	100,0%
Total		Count	20	26	92	106	152	4	38	16	454
TULAI		% within socialne_media(5r)	4,4%	5,7%	20,3%	23,3%	33,5%	0,9%	8,4%	3,5%	100,0%

Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

Table 17: Cross-tabulation of social media 5 years ago vs. information source 5 years ago - Chi-square test

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-		
			sided)		
Pearson Chi-Square	38,378ª	7	,000		
Likelihood Ratio	37,694	7	,000,		
N of Valid Cases	454				

Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

We then examined the dependence of the same variables, with both variables representing the baseline to the situation studied five years ago. The chi-square test showed that a value of 0.000 < 0.05 and hence there was a statistically significant dependence between the variables under study. The use of social media five years ago influenced from which source consumers most frequently drew information before purchase.

When comparing the two periods under study, there is a noticeable change in the relationship between these variables. There has been a significant change in the use of social media in the form of an increase over the last five years. Another

important fact is the change in terms of the most frequent source of information before purchase. The internet has now become an absolute phenomenon in terms of information search. We also made an interesting observation in our research that five years ago, the group that was already using social media at that time preferred to search for information in a brick-and-mortar store more than on the Internet. However, the brick-and-mortar store has seen a significant decline in consumer preferences for information search before purchase over the five years.

HYPOTHESIS 3: WE HYPOTHESIZE THAT THERE IS NO DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE VARIABLES UNDER STUDY - THE DEVICE THROUGH WHICH CONSUMERS MOST OFTEN CONNECT ONLINE AND THE SOURCE OF INFORMATION THEY USE BEFORE MAKING A PURCHASE.

Both variables are examined in the present and five years ago, and we assume that there is a dependence between the variables in the two periods examined

Hypothesis 3 compares the current situation with that of five years ago in terms of examining the dependence between the device consumers use to connect to the Internet and the source of information they use before making a purchase.

Table 18: Cross-tabulation today vs. source of information today
--

			zariaden	ie1 * zdroj_info Cros	stabulation				
			zdroj_info						
				ani jedna z	informácie od	internet	kamenná predajňa	tlač	
				uvedených možností	rodiny a známych				
	bdebileý telefíe	Count	0	0	0	2	0	0	2
ĺ	Mobilný telefón	% within zariadenie1	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	100,0%	0,0%	0,0%	100,0%
zariadenie1 S	Notebook	Count	2	0	4	60	2	0	68
	NOLEDOOK	% within zariadenie1	2,9%	0,0%	5,9%	88,2%	2,9%	0,0%	100,0%
	Smartfón	Count	16	16	28	268	20	2	350
		% within zariadenie1	4,6%	4,6%	8,0%	76,6%	5,7%	0,6%	100,0%
	Otalauń za žúst	Count	2	4	2	24	0	0	32
	Stolový počítač	% within zariadenie1	6,2%	12,5%	6,2%	75,0%	0,0%	0,0%	100,0%
	T-61-4	Count	0	0	0	2	0	0	2
	Tablet	% within zariadenie1	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	100,0%	0,0%	0,0%	100,0%
Total		Count	20	20	34	356	22	2	454
TUtal		% within zariadenie1	4,4%	4,4%	7,5%	78,4%	4,8%	0,4%	100,0%

Table 19: Cross-tabulation today vs. source of information today - Chisquare test

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-		
			sided)		
Pearson Chi-Square	14,117ª	20	,825		
Likelihood Ratio	18,398	20	,561		
N of Valid Cases	454				

Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

In the part of the research focused on examining the dependence between variables, applied to the current situation, we obtained the following results: the value of Asymp. Sig. It reached the level of 0.825, with 0.825>0.00 and thus we can conclude that there is no dependence between the device Slovak consumers use to connect online and the most frequent source of information they use before buying.

Table 20: Cross-tabulation of equipment 5 years ago vs. source ofinformation 5 years ago

zariadenie2 * zdroj_info2 Crosstabulation											
			zdroj_info2								Total
				ani jedna z uvedených možností	informácie od rodiny a známych	internet	kamenná predajňa	obchodný zástupca	televízia	tlač	
Notebook Smartfôn zariadenie2 Stolový počítač Tablet	Mattabaal	Count	6	16	50	52	68	2	16	12	222
	NOTEDOOK	% within zariadenie2	2,7%	7,2%	22,5%	23,4%	30,6%	0,9%	7,2%	5,4%	100,0%
	Smartfón	Count	10	0	0	20	2	0	0	0	32
		% within zariadenie2	31,2%	0,0%	0,0%	62,5%	6,2%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	100,0%
	Stolový počítoč	Count	4	10	40	34	82	2	20	4	196
	Stolovy pocitac	% within zariadenie2	2,0%	5,1%	20,4%	17,3%	41,8%	1,0%	10,2%	2,0%	100,0%
	Tablet	Count	0	0	2	0	0	0	2	0	4
		% within zariadenie2	0,0%	0,0%	50,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	50,0%	0,0%	100,0%
Total		Count	20	26	92	106	152	4	38	16	454
Tutai		% within zariadenie2	4,4%	5,7%	20,3%	23,3%	33,5%	0,9%	8,4%	3,5%	100,0%

Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

Table 21: Cross-tabulation of device 5 years ago vs. source of information 5 years ago - Chi-square test

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	123,517ª	21	,000,
Likelihood Ratio	101,067	21	,000
N of Valid Cases	454		

In terms of examining the relationship between the device Slovak consumers used to connect online, i.e. the explanatory variable, and the most frequent source of information, i.e. the explanatory variable, they used before making a purchase in the period five years ago, we concluded that there is a statistical dependence between the variables under study. Since the value of statistical significance has reached 0.000, with 0.000<0.05, we can confirm the existence of a correlation between the device Slovak consumers use to connect online and the most frequent source of information they use before purchase.

By comparing the two periods in terms of examining the relationship between the device Slovak consumers use to connect online and the most common source of information they use before making a purchase, there is a noticeable change in the relationship between these variables. Five years ago, there was a dependence between the variables studied and, conversely, today the device through which the consumer connects online has no influence on the search for information before purchase. There has also been a significant change in the variables themselves over the period under consideration. In terms of the explanatory variable, the trend in this case is a change in the use of devices and a shift from using a desktop or laptop to a smartphone. It is the use of the smartphone that has been steadily increasing, and with the addition of many features we can assume its absolute dominance.

The analysis of the quantitative survey *included the determination of 3 research questions and 3 hypotheses*, their verification and subsequent evaluation. The research questions were designed to investigate the impact of different variables on time spent on the Internet. It is the time spent online that we consider to be one of the key factors in identifying digital consumer behavioural tendencies.

For *VO1*, we were interested in the existence of a relationship between the age of the respondent and the time spent by the consumer on the Internet. Pearson's test confirmed the existence of a relationship between these variables. *VO2* discusses whether there is a statistically significant difference in the time spent on the Internet between men and women. The analysis showed that there are no statistical differences in this case. In *VO3*, we focused on finding the relationship between the most frequently used device through which the respondent connects online and the time spent online. The examination of the dependency revealed that the device through which a consumer connects online has an impact on the length of time spent online.

For us, answering research questions means gaining valuable insights when exploring the digital consumer. We also add that the answers to the research questions correspond to our expectations.

The hypotheses were conceived with the aim of a detailed analysis of the dependence of the selected variables. *Hypothesis 1* was conceived in order to investigate the relationship between the device used for toasting online and the use of social media. By verifying the hypothesis, we state the existence of a dependency between the variables. These results suggest that mobile devices in particular, which represent an ideal platform for multiple social media, are used to a higher extent than other devices for this purpose.

Given the nature of *hypothesis 2*, we divided it into 2 parts, the first of which found that social media use and what source consumers use to obtain information before purchase are not correlated. However, there was a dependence between these variables five years ago, indicating a significant change over a five-year period. In this case, we consider the adaptation of the majority of the population to social media and their daily use as a key factor. We note that the Internet has become a key element in the search for information before purchase. *Hypothesis 3* provided us with insight by comparing two periods of 5 years apart, both of which examined the dependence between the device through which a consumer connects online and the source of information they use before making a purchase. We note that there was a dependence between these variables five years ago but none five years later.

In the context of evaluating the research questions and hypotheses, it is possible to consider time as a significant factor shaping and influencing the consumer behaviour of the digital consumer.

The findings lend credence to our assumption that the rise of digitalisation, the availability and ubiquity of the internet provide many more opportunities for consumers to use the internet. The key factors here are both the availability of technology and the speed at which it can be accessed. Changes in the behaviour, attitudes and expectations of today's consumers bring with them many challenges for marketers who want to be successful in a competitively saturated market.

2. 4 Comparison of findings from the research study

The aim of this subchapter is to present the authors' view of the results of the research as well as their subsequent confrontation with the assumptions made before its implementation.

In the framework of the research, we proceeded to an online questionnaire, since the monograph focuses on the digital consumer and consumer behaviour in the era of digital marketing. It is in this context that we decided on this type of questionnaire, as we consider the Internet as a common tool in the lives of digital consumers.

Within the research we set a set of logical follow-up questions, the answers to which and subsequent analysis provided the basis for characterizing the profile of the digital consumer. It was the results of the research that highlighted selected characteristics typical of the digital consumer in today's era, which we can call the digital era. It is not surprising to us that the average time spent by a digital consumer on the Internet is between 4 and 6 hours per day. We assume that consumers' use of the Internet, to the extent indicated by the research, is a natural Technological breakthroughs, the availability of information evolution. technology as well as the Internet itself, are important contributors to the fact that the Internet is an integral part of many people's lives. On the basis of these facts, we can expect a further increase in the hours per day spent online by the digital consumer. This is certainly helped by the ability to use the Internet on a variety of devices, which represents a fundamental change from the recent past. The digital consumer is most often connected via a smartphone. This is where there has been a significant change over the last 5 years. This change is understandable; the smartphone is available to a wide range of consumers, it is easily portable, it is rechargeable, it is used by the majority of the population. What is important in this respect is that smartphones today are performing at an extremely high level and, thanks to applications, they allow their users to solve problems, work or entertain themselves in a way that these users do not have to use a desktop or laptop computer. From a technological point of view, we are also emphasising the expansion of mobile Internet, with data packages forming an increasingly significant part of the services provided by mobile operators. We are also taking into account the coverage of various public places with WIFI connections. Another characteristic of the digital consumer, according to our research, is activity on social networks associated with the use of multiple platforms. Social

networks have penetrated people's everyday lives in a significant way. Activity on social networks brings opportunities to communicate, interact with other users, share their feelings, opinions, achievements or photos. At the same time, the developers of these platforms are constantly reacting and working on developing existing or developing new platforms. It is a fact that social networks, especially for the young generation, represent an extremely important element of their social interaction as well as a way of life associated with a high level of time spent in this environment. From the perspective of consumer behaviour research in relation to the interest of business companies, it is social networks and the activity of their users that can form an imaginary consumer profile, which appears to be a suitable starting point for activities aimed at the efforts of business companies to create strategies leading to their customers becoming their customers, based on an understanding of the behavioural tendencies of their target group of consumers. Social networks help to shape opinion to a significant extent and this is a prerequisite for the activities not only of business companies but also, for example, of various political parties and non-profit organisations.

The digital consumer shops online. Based on the survey result, we see this characteristic as a natural part of the evolution of consumer behaviour under the influence of the online environment. It is of course important to distinguish between the different types of products or services for which we perceive an intense level of online shopping. The evolution of technology and applications creates room for the development and growth of online purchase volumes. For many digital consumers, this type of purchase is a comfortable form of solution to satisfy their need. In simplified terms, it is possible to describe a situation where the entire shopping process takes place via a smartphone. This process is applicable to a model of the buying behaviour of a typical digital consumer. The moment of need awareness occurs when the digital consumer browses the web via a smartphone or interacts with content on social networks. This is the point at which, if the consumer is interested in a product, he or she begins to search for information on which to base a decision about whether or not to make a purchase. On the one hand, thanks to technology and the availability of a wide range of information, the consumer can quickly obtain relevant impulses for his decisionmaking, while at the same time being able to obtain the basis for his decision also in interaction with other consumers, for example through social networks. On the other hand, in the case of a purchase decision, the whole process can take place in an extremely short time. Apart from speed, the advantage is that digitalisation and the internet bring opportunities to buy products and services from all over the

world. For example, sharing satisfaction or dissatisfaction with a purchased product or service, most often via social networks, is a common phenomenon in the context of purchasing behaviour. A change from the imaginary standard models of decision-making, provided that the individual is not characterised by too much hesitation in decision-making, is the fact when it is possible to point to a phenomenon where this pattern of purchasing behaviour of the digital consumer takes place in a short period of time and, in certain cases, only through a single device - say, a smartphone. It is worth reflecting on what direction the issue will take in the future. We anticipate that the pattern of purchasing behaviour will be influenced to an even greater extent by technology. We estimate that the trend in the future will be for even greater consumer interactivity, for example through virtual reality technologies.

We have concluded that the most significant cause of change in consumer behaviour is time. In this case, given that processes are speeding up and technological advances are simplifying them, it is the time during which people make decisions. This time for processes is therefore generally getting shorter. We are also talking about the time available to companies to engage consumers. If we think about and compare a common act in an individual's life, such as buying a plane ticket, we find that today, compared to the past, the entire process of making a purchase decision, from the realisation of the need to the purchase itself, can take a short while, and the entire process is carried out on a smartphone. Compared to the past, this is an unimaginable leap. Today's consumer has learned to deal with their purchase decision-making processes faster than in the past, and it is the fact that the time for these processes has shortened and the consumer has adopted the speed of the processes extremely quickly, we conclude that this insight is a key change in consumer behaviour in the era of digital marketing.
3 Digital consumer purchasing behaviour

The previous chapter provided the empirical results of the research study conducted and highlighted the findings from it. Thus, the last chapter of the scientific monograph focuses on the digital consumer, his typology and models of purchasing behaviour in the online environment. This chapter summarises the dynamics of changes in consumer behaviour from the perspective of practical applications.

3. 1 Model of digital consumer purchasing behaviour

Thanks to the impact of a technological change, as well as changes in consumer behaviour influenced by the digital era, a type of the consumer that we call the "digital consumer" has taken shape. Changes in consumer behaviour are often difficult for companies to understand and often difficult to spot in time. Changes in behaviour can be illustrated by the following trends (Manicom, 2015):

- Consumers are no longer comparing a brand to its closest competitors in the industry, the trend has become to compare regardless of industry or the product, consumers are focusing on factors such as service, quality or overall satisfaction of their needs.
- Criticism and complaints of consumers have a much greater impact on companies due to the speed at which information is disseminated through digital media. There is pressure on brands to meet the needs of an increasingly demanding and less tolerant customer.
- The influence of social media is consolidating the strong position of the word of mouth marketing. On the one hand, it can have a positive impact on brand building, but on the other hand, it can also be destructive.
- As technology advances, customer loyalty is diminishing. Digital consumers are more open to rebranding.
- Digital communication channels play an increasingly important role in consumer's information and communication. If brands want to be successful on the marketplace, they need to navigate the digital space and choose the right way to communicate with consumers. For many brands, finding the right balance between communicating through traditional

channels and the digital space is the best but also extremely challenging solution. This is multi-channel communication.

• Consumers in the digital era are more informed than ever before. This makes it much harder for brands to regulate the information that reaches consumers. Knowledge about products and services gives them enough room to make product purchase decisions.

Thanks to innovation and the prevalence of the internet, the starting points of today's consumers are much different compared to the past. However, it is still the case that developments are constantly advancing and new innovations are coming. Consumer engagement is extremely high, they have an unprecedented amount of information at their flexible disposal and can use it to their advantage at any time. The ability to navigate and adapt digital innovations, to use social networks, high-performance mobile devices or cloud solutions contributes to the consumer's maturity in the entire purchasing decision-making process. For companies that want to be successful in the long term, understanding and adapting to so-called digital consumer behaviour is a key task. Author Patrick Wu (2016) lists 4 characteristics of the modern digital consumer:

The modern consumer is connected

Consumers are connected online through a variety of devices that allow them to access up-to-date information 24 hours 7 days a week. Digital technologies are increasingly conquering consumers and this is reflected in the expectations of the average consumer. These customers expect full service without having to speak to a real person. This doesn't just apply to B2C sales. This phenomenon also applies to B2B, where 30% of buyers in 2015 completed at least half of their purchase online

The modern consumer is thorough

The connected consumer is becoming thorough based on digital influences. This puts pressure on prices and merchants' margins. Comparing prices, watching product reviews as well as searching for authentic content from real users is very easy for the consumer. Around 81% of consumers search for information on the internet before making a purchase, 61% read product reviews. The digital presence of sellers needs to be at a very high level, otherwise it is very easy for a consumer to find a competitor that provides a better experience. It is also true that the increased competition caused by

the digital revolution does not only apply to the B2C segment but also to the B2B segment, where 94% of shoppers do their pre-purchase research online and this is true even if the purchase itself is made offline.

The modern consumer is prudent

A Nielsen study (2011) showed that consumers are increasingly sceptical of traditional advertising, with trust falling in TV ads (down 24%), magazines down 20%

and in newspapers by 25%. Overall, only 47% of customers trust traditional advertising. Meanwhile, digital advertising is significantly improving its position. However, still only 58% of customers trust "owned media" such as news on company websites. The strength of digital marketing is its strength in "earned media" such as word of mouth and personal recommendations. The Nielsen study further shows an extraordinary increase in consumer trust in 'earned media' compared to other forms of advertising. This study also shows a 92% share of consumers who trust earned media more than other forms of advertising, with online reviews coming in second place with 70%. This fact is fully reflected in the ever-increasing trend of digital marketing in the form of user-generated content. Particularly among the younger generation, this is seen as a trusted form of marketing that is more memorable and influences buying behaviour more than other forms of media.

The modern consumer makes himself known/heard

Today's consumers are more vocal than ever. The ways in which consumers can voice their opinions are constantly growing. The empowerment of the modern consumer is a phenomenon that, on the one hand, frightens many and, on the other, represents a huge opportunity for all businesses. Authentic expressions from consumers who are customers of a business and use its services or products are extremely valuable decision-making factors for potential shoppers seeking information as part of their purchasing decisions. In this context, it is surprising that while 83% of satisfied customers are willing to report their satisfaction with products or services, only 29% of them actually end up doing so. Many sellers miss the opportunity to seek out and further disseminate positive feedback from their best customers in order to reach new potential customers through authentically sourced media. Experts predict that word-of-mouth marketing generates more than double the sales generated by paid advertising. Customers acquired through positive testimonials bring 16% higher lifetime value to sellers compared to other customers. Investing in a digital system that supports referrals and word of mouth is an extremely profitable solution in terms of ROI (return on investment).

Lauren Kay (2014) of Brafton reports that digital content is becoming a breakthrough solution for consumers looking for information online. The new digital global economy is constantly evolving and the modern consumer is becoming its beneficiary. Transparency today is at an all-time high. Researching, comparing, evaluating information and buying thanks to digital tools has never been easier for the consumer in history. Businesses should invest in digital solutions if they want to keep up with today's highly digitally savvy consumers. High-performance websites, mobile apps, custom enterprise software that enables proactive communication and keeping in touch with consumers are all effective tools to retain their target audience. Customers later repay their trust with public praise, for example, which helps generate new customers. The data collected by these digital solutions can be analysed so that businesses can better understand their target audience while knowing exactly how to engage customers better and more effectively. The real value of adapting to digital platforms comes from being able to measure, analyse and always improve.

Alison Bolen (2017) distinguishes 7 characteristics of the modern consumer. These characteristics are also supported by the fact that today's consumer is the most connected in history. However, the device through which consumers connect online plays a special role here. A defining characteristic and phenomenon of today is the fact that the only device a consumer can carry with them at all times dominates consumer usage. This device allows consumers to search for information, compare products, check prices, shop, obtain coupons or interact with other consumers as well as purchase a product from a retailer's online channel while physically standing in a direct competitor's brick-and-mortar store. The development of mobile internet connectivity has enabled the consumer to shop in a variety of ways and has also created a wide range of options for retailers as well. Specifically, it opens up the space for them to have targeted interactions with consumers and the ability to personalise those interactions.

Continuous shopper

There is an expectation among today's consumers that they are able to consume 24/7. Since consumption today is possible at any time, retailers must address the nuances, demands and wide variety of different consumer needs throughout the day.

Consumers are in control

Today's consumers have much more control over their shopping process or overall shopping experience. At the same time, they are aware that they have the power to dictate what kind of shopping experience they expect. Typically, the consumer has the means to review, analyze or share any point in the decision-making process leading up to making a purchase. All of these processes are extremely fast and the loss of a consumer may not be limited to a specific purchase but may mean a long-term or permanent loss of a customer. It is therefore necessary for retailers to be able to respond immediately to consumers' needs rather than directing them. This 'levelling effect' is a major challenge.

Omnichannel shopper

One of the biggest trends that is currently noticeable is the blurring or elimination of consumer process lines leading to purchase across different channels. A consumer is a consumer no matter where they shop. It is essential to avoid barriers between channels, to empower the consumer in a unified way and to involve them in what is happening on the website just as if they were in a bricks-and-mortar store.

Content consumer

The consumer's ability to explore products or services at any given moment is expanding enormously. The interconnectedness and close relationship consumers have with what they are buying and the reasons why they make purchasing decisions in their minds are reflected in the enormous impact the content they encounter online has on their behaviour. The content that reaches consumers to complement their purchasing decisions must add value and engage the consumer, particularly through social networks.

Global experience

Crossing borders, technological sophistication or knowledge of foreign languages allow consumers to define themselves in a global context. It is essential to understand the needs of consumers wherever they are at the moment. The way to do this is to work with tools that allow interaction with the consumer as much as possible. Another important factor from a global perspective is international competition from the point of view of retailers. Consumers, thanks to the Internet, have the proof to search for and make a product purchase anywhere in the world.

"Cooperating"

Thanks to technology and the significant impact of consumer communication in the online environment, there is much more collaboration and information sharing that has a significant impact on consumer purchasing decisions. There are devices whose use is predisposed to information sharing or information checking.

"Sharers via social media"

The justification for the use of social media is high, however, despite the rapid increase, it is still not being used to a relevant extent. In general, it is a sharing that goes beyond sharing reviews to retail purchase. In this, social feedback often precedes the in-store assortment mix as well. Lather describes this phenomenon as the existence of various online groups providing feedback on ideas or specifics of particular products. The existence of social feedback in this context comes before the retailer invests time and money in, for example, production and distribution. The advantage for today's marketers is that this mechanism did not exist in the past.

Based on the research of behaviour, attitudes and motivations in the digital environment, TNS Slovakia defined 4 consumer segments and 2 areas of influence - digital and social (Vallo, 2015). Digital influence is determined by the number of times a consumer connects to the internet via different devices. Social influence describes the importance of the use of social networks, their content and interaction on them for the digital consumer.

- "Leader" this includes young people who make heavy use of digital devices. According to the survey, they spend more than 6.2 hours a day using digital devices.
- "Functional" this group is characterized by a more moderate use of technology. A certain degree of distrust of digital devices and cyberspace is a typical feature.
- "Observer" these are enthusiasts of technology and technological progress. The typical feature is curiosity and orientation in innovations and novelties.
- "Connector" they are the opposite of the observer segment, they use the Internet primarily for communication via social media. This includes mainly lower income users.

Considering age as the main criterion for segmenting digital consumers, it is possible to classify them into the following 4 basic categories:

- The first are the so-called **Baby Boomers.** These are consumers born in the post-war period between 1948-1963. No generation before this one has experienced such drastic changes in education, economic and social life.
- Generation X (those born between 1964 and 1978) this is the generation that was of working age during the advent of technologies such as mobile phones, computers and the internet. This generation tends to find out as much information as possible about a product before making a purchase. They are also characterized by scepticism towards marketing communication tools (Williams, 2016).
- Generation Y (born 1979-1990) grew up with digital technology and in the age of social media. For this segment, the internet is increasingly becoming the primary source for information about products and services.
- Generation Z the so-called "Millennials" (born between 1991 and 2005). This generation is the most tech-savvy generation of all time young children can find and watch any video on YouTube and first graders can make a PowerPoint presentation for school. This generation can absorb a lot of information and also find it in seconds. "Millennials prefer social media above all forms of media, with 63% using social networks and 59% of young people watching online videos. This group is also the first to adopt new digital methods such as mobile payments" (TNS Slovakia, 2015).

Significant intergenerational differences are also reflected in different rates of growth in digital literacy levels. It can be concluded that the approach to digital literacy has changed significantly over the last decade. "Today, up to 60% of the population aged 14 and over adapts to ICT without major problems. On the other hand, the proportion of those who refuse to learn and adapt (about a quarter of the population) has not changed in the long term" (Velsic, 2015). While Generation Y has reached a high level of digital skills in almost a decade, their parents' generation has only reached a medium level, and their grandparents' generation is still not digitally mature enough and faces numerous challenges in using hardware, software or a wide range of electronic services. Perceptions of information technology are also different. For young people, ICT is not only a way of self-expression and self-fulfilment, but also of generational differentiation. Communicating with peers via social networks, chatting, streaming media, online gaming, e-shopping - all this is "cool". On the contrary, their parents' generation sees modern technology more as a tool to help them keep their jobs and fulfil their daily responsibilities. Their attitude is more pragmatic to utilitarian. For Baby Boomers, computers, smartphones, tablets, the Internet and its services are something their children and grandchildren can use, but they themselves are, in their own words, "too old" for it. While ICT is a natural part of life for Millennials and a necessity of life for Generation X, for Baby Boomers it is (in most cases) useless.

The intergenerational digital divide is something to be reckoned with for some time to come. However, it is likely that in the long term the differences between generations will not be as marked as they are today. On the one hand, a generation is being born and growing up for whom modern ICT will be a natural part of their lives from birth. On the other hand, society itself is putting more and more intense pressure on digital skills in different social environments and fields.

Based on the evaluation of the quantitative research conducted, it is possible to point out selected characteristics of a typical digital consumer. The basic characteristics of the digital consumer can be summarised as follows: the typical digital consumer is aged 16-32, spends 4-6 hours online daily, is most often online via smartphone, is active on social networks and uses multiple platforms. At the same time, they also shop online and search for information online before buying and pay for purchases with a credit card. The characteristics of the typical digital consumer serve as a basic prerequisite to identify the pattern of their purchasing behaviour.

The following diagram describes the different phases of the buying process as well as the influences that act on the consumer in each of the phases of the process.



Diagram 2: A model of a typical digital consumer's purchasing behaviour

Source: based on authors' own research: research study Changes in consumer behaviour SK-CBCH 2022.

Buying behaviour starts with the **need awareness** phase, where the digital consumer at this stage acquires a sense of need, especially in the context of internet usage, web browsing or social networking. Awareness of need after interaction with another digital consumer is common. Marketers aim to reach this segment in a targeted way through digital marketing tools or directly through digital advertising. This is followed by the **information-seeking** phase, where the Internet is the most used source of information nowadays. Specifically, search engines, blogs, vendor websites. Interaction with other digital consumers through social media also plays an important role. An interesting category is represented by videos, which can offer information to the consumer in an audio-visual form. The digital consumer is constantly connected online and the fastest way to find information is via a smartphone. In particular, online comparison sites play an important role in the **decision-making** phase, where consumers compare the features, reliability or specification of a product, as well as comparing prices with similar products.

Interacting with other digital consumers or friends, finding out their experiences, preferences opinions or attitudes is one of the key factors influencing this process for many consumers. Another factor that often influences the decision-making process is reviews from other consumers who have already had experience with the product. In terms of the **purchase** itself, the digital consumer prefers to buy online and most often pays for the purchase with a credit card. The last phase is the **post-purchase behaviour**. The starting point of this phase is the level of satisfaction of the customer with the purchase made. Characteristic of this phase for the digital consumer is the sharing of information related to satisfaction or purchase experience. The most common channel for this information is social networks or reviews. Another phenomenon is post-purchase dissonance, resulting from the availability of a large amount of information after the purchase, which can make the consumer feel insecure.

3. 2 Digital consumer typology

Today's digitally connected and connected consumers are power conscious, demanding instant access to personalised and customised content on their own terms. To meet the needs of these consumers, media and entertainment providers must largely become "digital" to be able to offer consumers personalized experiences on demand, anytime, anywhere. With digital consumers, there is a noticeable increase in the social aspect and an emphasis on consumer demand. Media and entertainment providers are further challenged to be able to offer consumers entertainment experiences that are both more relevant and perceived as having higher added value. If they want to go beyond digital content distribution, they need to:

- Act as B2C companies regardless of their position in the industry value chain.
- Focus on specific digital consumer personas.
- Deliver holistic, relevant content experiences not just the content itself.
- Create flexibly integrated multi-channel models that deliver value comparable to traditional models.

A number of studies on content consumption patterns of digital consumers point to the fact that users of digital devices commonly exhibit four content consumption behaviours:

- **On-demand browsing** In terms of breadth of reach, this type of online browsing option has overtaken all other forms of browsing and internet use since 2010.
- *Non-linear browsing* Based on a global survey, around three-quarters of adults also watch a TV broadcast while browsing the web. Rather than solely passive viewing of content on TV, there is a noticeable phenomenon where consumers are looking to interact with other content as well.
- *Mobile Display* The ability to change where a consumer views content has been made possible with the advent of mobile technology. There is a noticeable time shift in the context of content consumption as well as distracted viewing. The most popular activities include using social networking sites, listening to music, searching for information, emailing and using maps or navigation. This trend is extremely progressive.
- *Social Consumption* Connecting and communicating through social media is essential.

Given the constant influx of new technologies and products, it is essential to know the issue of consumers' adaptability to technology or the extent to which they are willing to accept these innovations. The diversity of consumers predetermines the fact that there are significant differences in their willingness to try or start using a new product. Only a small proportion of the population is characterised by a high level of innovation readiness. In contrast, many consumers. The Rogers curve provides insight into the distribution of consumers into five adaptation groups in terms of innovation at a certain point in time.

Diagram 3: Rogers adaptation curve



Source: Kotler (2007). Source: The Free Press, a division of Simon and Schuster, Inc. Everett M. Rogers 1995 Diffusion of Innovations, 4th Edition.

An important aspect of the monograph is the proposed typology of the digital consumer. There are many models or approaches that are a suitable basis for creating one's own typology. After defining the digital consumer and its characteristics based on the conducted research, the proposal of a typology for the digital consumer segment followed. This typology takes into account in particular the tendencies of their purchasing behaviour in the context of adaptation to innovative products or novelties on the market.

The proposed typology distinguishes three main types of digital consumer. The starting point for the design of the typology is the fact that within the digital consumer segment there are inherent differences in the perception of innovation and the ability to adapt to it, especially in terms of purchasing behaviour. The degree of trust in a new product, a technological innovation or the consumer's willingness to accept a change in his/her purchasing behaviour are crucial factors in the typology. Many products that are technological novelties and innovations require a certain degree of technology adaptation and skills from users, a degree of trust that may be represented by the provision of various data or access to the consumer's credit card. The group of consumers that reacts in a positive way to innovations in a very short time represents the so-called "enthusiast". These are mostly enthusiasts who welcome technological innovations, new products and services, while at the same time taking a quick approach to buying and using them. They are willing to buy products at the beginning of their life cycle, often in spite of a higher price. The typical enthusiast has many apps downloaded on their smartphone, is up-to-date with the technology world before the majority of the population, is willing to take a certain amount of risk at the cost of trying new things, and is always eager to be among the first to have the latest products. The second group is the so-called "rationalist". This group includes prudent consumers who prefer convenience and seek to eliminate a degree of risk. Rationalists check information about new products, compare and weigh alternatives. Then, if they decide to buy a product, they look for the best price for them, while some rationalists wait for discounts or promotions. It is common for enthusiasts to investigate the credibility of products. The decision process before making a purchase usually takes a long time. If a particular company earns their trust on a long-term basis, they are willing to accept new products from their portfolio in a relatively quick time. After the trust phase, they often share their feelings and share information with the environment. The last group is represented by 'sceptics', who are characterised by a high level of distrust towards novelty. They are sceptical, cautious and cautious. They stick mainly to proven products, react suspiciously to changes and accept them only when they become a tradition. They find the process of deciding on innovations lengthy, do not follow new things too closely and never try something new without it having already been tested by someone else. They are a group of conservative consumers, they are not representatives of opinion leadership.

3. 3 Dynamics of changes in purchasing behaviour in the online environment

Consumer behaviour is constantly changing. These changes pose an inevitable challenge for marketers and salespeople. The necessity to adopt new technologies in order to meet customer needs has gradually become commonplace. Mobile devices have largely become the driving force behind changes in consumer behaviour. Many consumers tend to rely on devices such as the smartphone. Author Steven Van Belleghem (2016) posits that mobile devices are becoming the sixth sense of today's consumers. Anyone who wants to be successful in today's highly competitive environment and gain the favour of consumers must have exact information about their customers, their behaviour as well as what form of interaction they expect to have with the seller. Van Bellenghem goes on to identify five ways in which modern consumers perceive interaction with sellers and what they expect from them:

- Individual approach to customers nowadays, the ideal segment size can be considered as one person, each with their preferred products and services taking into account individual consumer requirements and needs.
- Convenience large and successful companies such as Instagram, Uber and Booking.com have built their success on factors that make the product quick and easy for consumers to understand and operate. A defining characteristic of today's consumers is that they expect and demand simplicity and speed.
- Human contact research points to the fact that seven out of ten consumers still value human contact. This insight also applies when digital channels work perfectly.
- Buying from trusted and right companies Today's, constantly connected, consumer has the potential to be part of connecting with

brands at a much higher level than ever before. Closely related to this is the rise of groups of companies that consumers connect with on an emotional level. When consumers are emotionally connected to a brand, they tend to buy their products with pride and advocate the brand itself.

• Personalising the digital environment - for market and business leaders, the ever-improving capabilities of digital technology are an effective way to achieve high levels of personalisation, convenience and meet the needs of modern consumers.

The adoption of the Internet by consumers as a means to inform themselves, compare, and purchase different products and services has resulted in the concept we call the e-consumer. In contrast to traditional consumers who are much more conservative and there is more constancy in their buying behaviour. E-consumers show more openness to change and are more open to trying new options (Belingher and Cantemir, 2011). In addition to the above, e-consumers are characterized by being more concerned with the functional characteristics of products and implicitly seek maximum utility from consumption (Brown et al., 2003). Dennis et al. (2008) describe the e-consumer as an innovative person with an above-average level of education and a relatively high socioeconomic status. Despite the conveniences provided by the media or the Internet, which are considered innovative means of communication, human characteristics and qualities remain constant over time. This phenomenon, according to the authors Haugtvedt, Machleit and Yalch (2005), becomes a challenge for the current online environment as well as its future development.

Over the past few years, market developments have revealed a new segment of consumers known as 'extreme customers'. This segment is characterised by the use of whatever technologies and media are available to achieve the optimal alternatives offered by the market. A study published by GfK (2015) shows that 67% of these consumers use the internet to gather and exchange information before buying, while 38% will see a product in person in a brick-and-mortar store or at another retailer. In the context of using the Internet as an external source of information as well as a means to purchase goods or services, this alternative appears to be the optimal solution.

A major challenge is how consumers succeed in the process of analysing, interpreting and integrating the information they have acquired, as well as the

ability to turn these cognitive skills into useful knowledge (Haugtvedt, Machleit and Yalch, 2005). Considering the factors that influence and enhance online purchase behaviour, sales-related services (e.g., transaction security, warranty or services) and ease of purchase, personalization of experience or comparative analysis of offers represent a key factor in determining purchase behaviour (Bourlakis, Papagiannidis and Fox, 2008). Another perspective on the factors influencing online consumer purchase behaviour is provided by Dange and Kimar (2012) within the FFF model. This model defines three categories of influences on online consumer behaviour. They distinguish between internal and external factors that influence the consumer, information filter factors whose role is to determine the threshold of perceived risk, and purchase decision filter factors where the consumer evaluates his own expectations and motives. Regardless of the mode of acquisition, whether online or offline, the cognitive or affective components at each stage of the decision-making process and the intensity with which they manifest themselves are closely related to the buyer's experience, the relevance and usefulness of the product purchased as well as the risks perceived by the consumer.

With the explosion of mobile technology and social media, multi-channel shopping has become the way consumers choose the journey they make represents the way they satisfy their needs. This process needs to be mapped and understood. The new multi-channel consumer behaviour has led to the development of a new marketing practice. Marketers' practical decisions are based on the assumptions brought about by the recognition that the web is a place where consumers are able to gather information quickly and from multiple sources and in multiple formats. Authors Wolny and Nipawan (2014) list three types of behaviour:

- Zero moment of truth (ZMOT) Refers to a consumer's first contact with a product or service through various social media outlets. This term, defined by Google's Jim Lecinski, is described as a moment that occurs millions of times a day on the screens of mobile phones, laptops or other devices. This moment is accompanied with the consumer's initial access to information, beginning the consumer decision-making process. It is this moment that significantly influences success or failure (Lecinski, 2011).
- Showrooming The consumer behaviour of viewing a physical product in a brick-and-mortar store or in any location with a physical display of the product, but choosing to purchase it online. Mostly because of the wide range of offerings and the ability to compare prices (Smith, 2013).

• Webrooming - A consumer behaviour where pre-purchase research is conducted online but the purchase is made in a brick-and-mortar store (Philips, 2013).

From a broader perspective, we can conclude that various effects suggest that people are increasingly confronted with complex multi-channel shopping paths. From a consumer perspective, new types of behaviour represent a simplification of decision-making processes in an ever-expanding digital space. It is imperative for brands to embrace multi-channel experiences. The seamless integration of the physical and digital worlds is an ongoing challenge (Zhang et. al, 2010).

Consumers tend to create channels in a way that provides them with the greatest opportunity to take advantage of shopping opportunities, expecting retailers to have access to them at every point of encounter. In order to understand how ZMOT, showrooming and webrooming work in the customer path to purchase process, it is essential to understand customer interactions across multiple channels. In his empirical study, Frambach (2007) describes that the purchase phase has a significant impact on the actual intention to use the channel. Consumers tend to seek various benefits at the pre-purchase stage, during the purchase stage as well as after the actual purchase. These facts can lead to dynamic channel preferences throughout the purchase decision process. While Frambach's author collective remained focused on the online - offline dichotomy, with the passage of time, the authors considered this approach outdated and foresee the necessity of examining consumers' use of an increasing number of channels in the context of the consumer decision-making process. In order to fully understand consumer behaviour and their engagement at different touchpoints during the consumer purchase journey, it is essential to clarify the consumer decision-making process. An examination of consumer decision process models leads to the identification of the general stages that consumers must complete before they make or refuse a purchase (Häubl and Valeria, 2000). The most wellknown models of consumer behaviour include the AIDA models or the Howard-Seth model of purchase behaviour (Evans, Ahmad and Gordon, 2011). Among the most well-known and widely used models of the consumer decision-making process is the so-called five-stage consumer decision-making process. It consists of five stages that influence the consumer during the process leading to purchase: need recognition, information search, evaluation of alternatives, purchase and post-purchase behaviour (Teo and Yeong, 2003). The validity of the above model is evident in the online context as well as multi-channel consumer segmentation

(Molenaar, 2010). The extent of involvement in the framework in the decisionmaking process has an impact on the length and the different stages of the decision-making process. According to Clark (2013), the customer journey is defined as a description of the customer experience for different touchpoints. This journey characterises the customers' interaction with a brand, product or service and at the same time, the multitude of channels involved reflects the emotional behaviour and cognitive reactions present in this process. Molenaar further discusses a model of consumer behaviour in the online environment called ORCA.

The ORCA model represents a combination of purchase stages of a nonlinear collection of constants of points present during the decision process. This model also discusses the concept of shopping 3.0, where consumers use different channels for information search as well as for shopping itself. Many contact points are connected without a strict chronological order. The diagram above shows the number of channels that a consumer encounters after recognising a problem in the form of awareness of a need. It points to the process of gathering information from web search engines and product comparison sites before making a purchase decision. This decision can then be reflected in other distribution channels, including commercial web sites or brick-and-mortar stores. All consumer paths leading to purchase were mapped to detect patterns. The surveys resulted in the identification of the following typology:

- *Impulse trips* During impulse trips, consumers tend to spend less time searching for information. They place more importance on their previous experiences, advice from friends and a quick test of a product often leads to a purchase decision. Purchase intent is often influenced by the consumer's mood, and it is common to suddenly change the purchase decision due to an attractive display of another product. Impulsive consumers often feel overwhelmed when exposed to large amounts of data that push them towards impulsive and emotion-driven purchase decisions.
- **Balanced Paths** Aspirational or reference groups such as family, friends or even traditional and digital media, bloggers or celebrities can trigger socalled balanced consumer paths. These journeys represent an extended search for information and its evaluation. It is these elements that make the difference between impulse and balanced pathways. Consumers initiate their purchase intention through emotions and at the same time their decisions are supported by cognitive evaluations. A group of consumers

falling into this segment often check the information they have sought and compare it with other information from different sources, through different channels and platforms to arrive at a definitive purchase decision. Webrooming as well as showrooming play an important role in this process.

• **Considered journeys** - This type of journey is characterized by an extended pre-purchase phase where consumers gather information from many sources including news, reviews, blogs, friends which they keep in imaginary databases of their own. This information is then used in order to evaluate options when the need arises. ZMOT (zero moment of truth) is the most influential in this case because it has a longer effect time on the consumer's final purchase decision. This moment strongly influences the subconscious permission to buy that the consumer allows in their mind.

3. 4 Theoretical and practical implications of the problem addressed

Today's era, characterised by extraordinary advances in technology, puts considerable pressure on commercial companies seeking consumer favour in a tough competitive battle. It is the consumer and his behaviour that has changed noticeably over time and also as a result of technological and social change. The study of this issue poses a challenge for both academia and business. Understanding changes in consumer behaviour is an extremely important factor in managerial decision-making in the process of setting marketing strategy. Within the framework of understanding consumer behaviour and monitoring or analysing its changes, the identification of consumer typologies and their subsequent segmentation is one of the key prerequisites for success.

In terms of the changes brought about by the boom in technology, the expansion of the virtual world and the online environment, we consider the changes that have taken place over the last decade to be the most dynamic in history. An important indicator for understanding the acceptance of change is the segmentation of the population on the basis of socio-demographic indicators, and in particular the segmentation of the population into different generational groups is considered extremely important by the professional community. An equally important role is played by the typology of consumers based on an analysis of their behaviour, as well as the identification of a typology based on the ability to accept and respond to change. The contribution of the theoretical part of the scientific monograph can be considered as a summary of knowledge in the field of consumer behaviour as well as a description of factors and models of consumer behaviour, which represent the basic starting point for understanding this issue. The next step was to define a typology of consumers. In the context of a comparison of several theoretical backgrounds of the issue of consumer typology, it is possible to offer insights into the benefits of identifying a consumer typology. At the same time, we note that certain consumer typologies are influenced by digital advances and others are even conditioned by these advances, indicating a change made over time. The identification of the theoretical knowledge in the field of changes in consumer behaviour has highlighted the different phases reported by different authors. Each perspective reflects specific elements of consumer behaviour characterising consumption itself.

Another contribution of the scientific monograph is the definition of the concept of the digital era and digitalisation. Following the theme of digitalisation, we have addressed the issue of consumer behaviour in the context of the digital economy. This dynamic sector is subject to constant development and therefore it can be stated that by comparing several sources of knowledge on this issue, the monograph provides a theoretical as well as pedagogical basis for further research in this area with the help of their synthesis. A hitherto marginally addressed phenomenon is the power of consumers, which is constantly growing under the influence of the evolution of consumers in what we call the digital era. Closely related to this is the so-called digital dysfunction, which also represents the negative phenomena caused by the trend towards digitalisation. For the majority of the population, social media has become an almost everyday part of their lives. Its impact has become noticeable in various areas of life, including consumer behaviour. The increase in consumer interactivity online, particularly through social media, is undeniable. By comparing the various sources available on the subject of social media, the monograph provides an insight into this nowadays intensively discussed topic in the context of people's behaviour in the online environment. At the same time, these insights also create room for the preparation of marketing decision-making of business companies. On the basis of theoretical sources, the scientific monograph provides a synthesis and overview of the most important findings concerning changes in consumer behaviour under the influence of digital marketing tools.

Among the basic benefits of the publication in terms of applicability in economic practice we consider the definition and characterization of marketing tools applied in the digital era in order to influence consumer behaviour. In this section, online platforms for digital marketing are described, relying on quantified data from different areas or sectors. Based on the comparison and analysis of these data, it is possible to identify the steps leading to the successful implementation of digital marketing elements into a corporate strategy, so that business companies are flexible enough to respond to current changes and thus increase their competitiveness in the marketplace. We consider the analysis of the consumer's path to purchase to be an important part of the research part. This phenomenon helps to analyse the processes leading the consumer from the awareness of the need to the execution of the purchase. Understanding this process, the awareness of each stage that the consumer goes through in his decision-making process represents a fertile ground for possible influence by the seller in his favour.

We also consider the identification of a characteristic digital consumer to be an important contribution, with this characteristic emerging from the research study conducted. This characteristic served as the basis for the model of the purchasing behaviour of the typical digital consumer. The presented model describes five phases through which a digital consumer passes. The model further identifies the influences that act on the consumer in each phase and also identifies the behavioural tendencies of the typical digital consumer in specific phases.

Another contribution of the scientific monograph is the definition of a typology of the digital consumer. The typology identifies three types of digital consumers based on the tendencies of their purchasing behaviour in the context of adaptation to innovative products or novelties on the market. On the basis of the conducted research we further state that the development of technology also brings new marketing strategies. In this publication we focus on multichannel and omnichannel marketing. The result is a comparison and definition of the differences between them. Involving the consumer in the process has added a new dimension to the traditional AIDA model. Interacting with the consumer throughout the decision-making process turns out to be an almost essential part.

Another contribution is the characterisation of purchasing behaviour in the context of the online environment. In this area, we summarized and compared current data on online shopping behaviour, the use of online tools in the digital environment, the use of social networking sites and their impact on shopping behaviour. We also measured the current topic of the impact of mobile devices on

consumer buying behaviour. The outcome of the process was the characterization of different types of consumers, according to their behavioural tendencies, use of technology or ability to adapt to the changes brought about by constant development.

We consider the definition of 'digital consumer' to be a special category. The contribution is the detailed characterisation and analysis of digital consumers, the analysis of the influences that affect them, the tendencies of their behaviour and the subsequent segmentation of the digital consumer itself into smaller specific segments. The digital consumer has become extremely important and its power resulting from the availability of information, the ability to communicate, the availability of technology and the ability to make extremely quick decisions as well as to make the actual purchase itself, poses a challenging task for business companies in the process of attracting, communicating, satisfying, retaining and creating loyalty from this consumer segment.

The quantitative research conducted focused on examining consumers, their behavioural tendencies in relation to the online environment as well as in terms of the changes that have taken place over a period of five years. The acquired knowledge was used in order to verify the hypotheses and research questions. An important step towards verification was the use of selected statistical and analytical methods. For better representation of the results of the survey we used graphical representation by means of graphs, tables, charts or figures. The research could also be carried out thanks to the answers of 454 respondents -Slovak consumers of different age categories. On the basis of the research, we found out the tendencies of Slovak consumers' behaviour with regard to the online environment. Changes occurred mainly in terms of consumer activities as well as in terms of the use of devices or time spent on the Internet. A significant change has been brought about by the advent of social media, and when examining the dependencies of the impact of selected variables from the survey, we found that the rise of digitalisation has brought about much greater opportunities for consumers to use the Internet itself or digital devices. All these facts have an impact on the consumer behaviour of individuals or groups.

In summary, we conclude that for today's consumer, the multi-channel decisionmaking process plays a key role in most cases. As part of this insight, we consider the so-called Zero Moment of Truth (ZMOT) as a moment that is mutually crucial - both from the perspective of the consumer and from the marketers' side. This moment is accompanied by the consumer's initial access to information; it is often at this point that the consumer decision-making process begins. It is this moment that significantly influences success or failure. Unrelenting competition, the availability of information and the speed of its flow, the responsiveness of the consumer are all factors that have translated into a situation where one brief moment, namely the ZMOT, has the greatest impact on the consumer's decisionmaking process. It is the above findings that lead us to the observation that the most significant changes have taken place in this area and the above factors are the cause of these changes. In light of the above arguments, we conclude that the most significant cause of change in consumer behaviour is time.

We assume that the results and knowledge we bring can be beneficial especially for smaller firms in economic practice. Taking into account the fact that in comparison with large companies, small ones in most cases do not have sufficient possibilities for similar analyses, especially in terms of lack of professional staff in this area, financial possibilities for cooperation with a professional agency in the field or lack of knowledge of the issue under study.

Conclusion

The constant changes in society and the lives of individuals are greatly influenced by innovation, the development of information and communication technologies and the Internet penetration into consumers' lives. As today's world is changing, so are the current consumers. The changes in consumers' behaviour are more noticeable in shorter periods of time. The today's consumer has become much more demanding and discerning than in the past. In the face of the intense competition, companies and brands that want to compete for consumers' favour are forced to use both online and offline touch points with consumers. Given these changes, business needs to adapt to new trends in consumer behaviour as well as consumer's demand for digital content consumption. The Internet and digital technologies have increased consumers' demands for personalised information and on demanding services. These facts create pressure that stimulates commercial companies' efforts to gain the attention and favour of consumers. Thanks to the impact of a technological change and changes in consumer behaviour influenced by the digital era, a type of the consumer has emerged: the 'digital consumer'.

The online connection of consumers is the highest in history and it is still on an upward trend. The range of activities that consumers carry out online is also constantly expanding. There has been a significant increase in consumption in terms of volume and structure. At the same time, consumers' demands for quality have increased. The constant access to the Internet has also been reflected in the development of mobile devices and applications for these devices. At the same time, social media are significantly changing the way people communicate with each other. Communication through digital devices and online platforms has injected an incredible speed into people's lives for the flow of information.

Changes in consumers' behaviour require an adequate and proactive response in the use of modern marketing tools in order to achieve effective marketing communication, on condition that marketing companies are able to know consumer behaviour. In that case, it will lead to an understanding of future reactions to new products or services and, simultaneously, create a prerequisite for identifying previously unrecognised opportunities offered by the market. The main aim of the monograph was to propose a typology and models of consumer behaviour of digital consumers based on the analysis of the impact of digital technologies on the change in consumer behaviour.

Based on the results of the quantitative survey and subsequent data analysis, as well as analysis of available researches from various institutions, we have concluded that the way how the today's consumer behaves, reacts and makes decisions has changed significantly over time. We note that these changes are also noticeable over a five-year period. These changes are due to considerable part of digitalisation. Smartphones have taken the lead preferences to devices that allow consumers to connect online. These devices make it easier for consumers thanks to their ease of handling, the possibility of having them all the time wherever they go and, above all, the fact that they allow consumers to be connected online in all places where an Internet signal is available.

Moreover, it is the consumer's near-constant availability that means marketers have the opportunity to reach their target group anytime, anywhere. The consumer is also able, thanks to these facts, to search for information immediately, compare information, communicate with other consumers, evaluate alternatives and, most importantly, make the actual purchase of the product immediately. The changes brought about by this society-wide phenomenon have impacted all areas of consumer life, not only purchasing decisions. Given that today's population uses digital communication, business needs to think digitally and gets to where its customers are. Understanding this approach is the key to ensure brands to catch up to their competitors. There are many tools in the digital environment to get as close as possible to the consumer mindset. The technological changes have brought speed to our lives and reduced the time of various processes, and this is what we consider to be the most significant impact on the consumer in today's era, called the digital age.

Consumer behaviour is one of the most essential aspects that marketers and salespeople must consider when carrying out their profession. Knowing the behavioural tendencies of the target segment, understanding the degree of influence of external as well as internal factors influencing this behaviour and understanding the changes in consumer behaviour creates room for the correct adjustment of the processes of firms, setting the right strategy and ultimately for the acquisition of the consumer.

References

- 1. ADMA. 2013. *Čo je natívna reklama a prečo funguje lepšie ako bannery*. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-17]. Retrieved from: http://adma.sk/2013/05/co-je-nativna-reklama-a-preco-funguje-lepsie-ako-bannery/
- ADMA. 2016. Socialmedia: nový pohľad na sociálne siete. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-17]. Retrieved from: http://adma.sk/2016/09/socialmedia-sprievodca-novy-pohlad-na-socialne-siete/>
- 3. AIMMONITOR. 2016. *Príjmy z internetovej reklamy na Slovensku v prvom polroku 2016*. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-20]. Retrieved from:< http://www.iabslovakia.sk /internetova-reklama/objemy-reklamy-slovensko/>
- 4. ALEXANDRU, V., 2016. *Global value chains from a multidimensional perspective*. A preliminary insight. In: Brătianu, C., Zbuchea, A., Pînzaru, F., Leon, R.D. and Vătămănescu, E.M. eds. 2016. Strategica. Opportunities and Risks in the Contemporary. Business Environment. Bucharest: Tritonic. s. 324-331.
- AMERICAN MARKETING ASSOCIATION. 2017. Consumer behavior. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-24]. Retrieved from: https://www.ama.org/resources/Pages/ Dictionary.aspx ?dLetter=C>
- 6. ARMSTRONG, M. 2008. *Interactions between Competition and Consumer Policy*. Competition Policy International, 4(1), pp. 97-112.
- 7. ARNOTT, D. FITZGERALD, M. 2000. *Marketing Communications Classics*. Cengage Learning EMEA, 2000, 524 s. ISBN 978-18-61525-07-9.
- 8. BAROMETER CETELEM. 2015. *Spotreba v Európe: 2009 2014, roky hlbokých premien*. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-12]. Retrieved from: https://www.cetelem.sk/ospolocnosti/barometer/Contents/0/barometer_2015_sk_25032015_nahlad.pdf
- 9. BARTOSIK-PURGAT, M. FILIMON, N. 2022. European Consumers in the Digital Era: Implications of Technology, Media and Culture on Consumer Behavior. New York: Routledge, 2022, 214 p. ISBN 978-10-322-0461-1
- 10. BELINGHER, D. CANTEMIR, A.C. 2011. *The behaviour of the Digital Consumer*, Analele. Universității Constantin Brâncuși din Târgu Jiu, Seria Economie, nr.2
- 11. BERMAN, S.J. KESTERSON-TOWNES, L. 2012. Connecting with the digital customer of the future. In: Strategy and Leadership, vol. 40, ISSN 1087-8572. s. 29
- 12. BERNOF, J. LI, CH. 2008. Groundswell: Winning in a world transformed by social technologies. Harvard Business Review Press, 2008, 286 s. ISBN 978-14-22139-12-7.
- 13. BEYOND. 2011. Social Consumer and the Science of Sharing. [online]. [cit. 2022-02-04]. Retrieved from: https://bynd.com/news-ideas/social-consumers-science-sharing/

- 14. BICKART, B. SCHINDLER, R.M. 2001. Internet Forums as Influential Sources of Consumer Information. Journal of Interactive Marketing, 15, 3, s. 31–40.
- 15. BLACKWELL, R.D. MINIARD, P.W. ENGEL, J.F. 2006. Consumer Behavior. Thomson/South-Western, 2006, 774 s. ISBN 978-03-24271-97-3.
- BOLEN, A. 2017. Seven characteristics of the modern consumer. [online]. [cit. 2022-02-13]. Retrieved from: https://www.sas.com/en_us/insights/articles/marketing/modernconsumer.html>
- BOLISANI, E. SCARSO, E. ZIEBA, M. 2015. How Small KIBS Companies Manage Their Intellectual Capital? Towards an Emergent KM Approach. In: Cegarra Navarro, J.G. ed. 2015. Proceedings of the European Conference on Intellectual Capital. Reading: Academic Conferences and Publishing International Limited. pp. 25-33.
- 18. BOURLAKIS, M. PAPAGIANNIDIS, S. FOX, H. 2008. *E-Consumer Behaviour: Past, Present and Future Trajectories of an Evolving Retail Revolution*", International Journal of E-Business Research, Volume 4, Issue 3
- BROWN, M. POPE, N. VOGES, K. 2003. Buying or browsing? An exploration of shopping orientations and online purchase intention. European Journal of Marketing, Vol. 37. Nos 11/12, pp. 1666-1685.
- 20. BUSINESSWIRE. 2011. New "Science of Sharing" Study Uncovers What Influences the Social Consumer [online]. [cit. 2022-01-31]. Retrieved from: http://www.businesswire .com/news/home/20111026006853/en/%E2%80%9CScience-Sharing%E2%80%9D-Study-Uncovers-Influences-Social-Consumer >
- 21. BUSH, V. MATHUR, M. 2011. *Increasing advertising receptivity through social media engagement. In Advances in Marketing.* Montgomery : Advances in Marketing Society, s. 119.
- 22. CABALLERO, A. 2016. *Google Adwords facts and stats every advertiser should know*. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-20]. Retrieved from: http://blog.whitesharkmedia.com/google-adwords-facts>
- 23. CECERE, L. et al.2010. *The rise of social commerce*. [online]. [cit. 2022-02-21] Retrieved from: http://www.supplychainshaman.com/wp-content/uploads/2010/11/rise_of_social_commerce_final.pdf>
- 24. CHAFFEY, D. 2016. *Mobile marketing statistics compilation*. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-21] Retrieved from: http://www.smartinsights.com/mobile-marketing/mobile-marketing-statistics/
- 25. CLARK, D. 2013. Using social media to map customer journey to the customer experience. [online]. [cit. 2022-04-11]. Retrieved from: https://www.mycustomer.com/experience/engagement/using-social-media-to-map-the-consumer-journey-to-the-customer-experience
- 26. COHEN, H. 2011. *30 social media definitions*. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-11]. Retrieved from: http://heidicohen.com/social-media-definition/>

- 27. COMMURI, S. GENTRY, J. W. 2000. *Opportunities for Family Research in Marketing*. Academy of Marketing Science Review, 8, pp.1 34.
- 28. CONSUMERBAROMETER. 2015. *The online & multiscreen world(SK)*. [online]. [cit. 2021-12-25] Retrieved from: https://www.consumerbarometer.com/ en/insights/? countryCode=SK>
- 29. ČÁP, J. 2001. *Psychologie pro učitele*. Praha : Portál, 2001. 655 s. ISBN 80-7178-463-X.
- 30. DAHL, A. PELTIER, L. 2015. *A historical review and future research agenda for the field of consumer satisfaction, dissatisfaction, and complaining behavior.* Journal of Consumer Satisfaction, Dissatisfaction and Complaining Behavior 28, 5-25. 2000.
- DANGE, U. KIMAR, V. 2012. A sudy of factors affecting online buying behavior: a conteptual model. [online]. [cit. 2022-04-11]. Retrieved from: https://ecommerceinsiders.com/key-factors-influencing-online-consumer-behaviour-backed-research-1981/zang>
- 32. DARLEY, W. K. BLANKSON, C. LUETHGE, D. J. 2010. Toward an integrated framework for online consumer behavior and decision making process: A review', Psychology and Marketing, Vol. 27, No. 2, pp. 94–116.
- 33. DEIGHTON, J Kornfeld, L. 2009. Interactivity's Unanticipated Consequences for Marketers and Marketing. Journal of Interactive Marketing, 23, 1, 4–10.
- 34. DENNIS, C. MERRILEES, B. JAYAWARDHENA, C. WRIGHT, L.T. 2009 "*E-consumer behaviour*", European Journal of Marketing, Vol 43, No 9/10
- 35. DE VALCK, K. VAN BRUGGEN, G. WIERENGA, B. 2009. Virtual communities: A marketing perspective. Decision Support Systems 47: 185–203.
- 36. ELLISON, B. E. BOYD, D. M. 2007. Social Network Sites: Definiton, History and Scholarship. Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication, 13(1), 210-230.
- 37. EBIZMBA. 2017. *Social networking websites*. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-09]. Retrieved from: http://www.ebizmba.com/articles/social-networking-websites
- 38. EINWILLER, S. A. STEINLEIN, S. 2015. Handling complaints on social network sites: An analysis of complaints and complaint responses on Facebook and Twitter pages of large US companies. Public Relations Review 41 (2). 2025 s. 195–204.
- 39. EVANS, M. AHMAD, J. GORDON, F. 2009. *Consumer behavior*. John Wiley and Sons, 2009, 576 s. ISBN 978-04-709-9465-8.
- 40. EUROPEAN COMMISION (EC), 2016a. *The Collaborative Economy Fact sheet. Ref. Ares* (2016)2558830 - 02/06/2016. [online]. [cit. 2022-02-13]. Retrieved from: http://ec.europa.eu/DocsRoom/documents/16955/attachments/1/translations>
- 41. FLASHEUROBAROMETER. 2016. SpecialEurobarometer nr. 431, 438, Eurostat. [online]. [cit. 2022-05-13]. Retrieved from: < www.europa.eu >

- 42. FRAMBACH, R.T. et al., 2007. *The impact of consumer internet experience on channel preference and usage intentions across the different stages of the buying process*. Journal of interactive marketing. Vol. 21, pp. 26 -41
- 43. FREY, P. 2011. *Marketingová komunikace: nové trendy 3.0.* Praha : Management Press, 2011. 203 s. ISBN 978-80-7261-237-6.
- 44. GALETTO, M. 2018. *What is omnichannel marketing*? [online]. [cit. 2022-03-24]. Retrieved from: https://www.ngdata.com/what-is-omni-channel-marketing/>
- 45. GFK. 2016. Výrazné zvýšenie indexu spotrebiteľskej klímy. [online]. [cit. 2022-04-24]. Retrieved from: https://www.gfk.com/fileadmin/user_upload/ country_one_pager/SK/ documents/2016/160801_GfK_TS_PR_CCEurope_skfin.pdf>
- 46. HAUGTVEDT, C. MACHLEIT, K. YALCH, R. 2005. Online Consumer Psychology. New York: Psychology Press
- 47. HANNA, R. ROHM, A. CRITTEDEN, V. 2011. We're all connected: The power of the social media ecosystem. Business Horizons. Vol. 54, s. 265 273.
- 48. HÄUBL, G. VALERIE, T. 2000. Marekting Science, s. 4 21.
- 49. HAWKINS, D. BEST. R. CONEY. K. 1989. Consumer behavior: implications for marketing strategy. BPI/Irwin, 1989, 796 s. ISBN 978-02-56063-31-8.
- 50. HEIONEN, K. 2011. Consumer activity in social media: Managerial aproaches to conusmers social media behavior. Journal of Consumer Behavior. Vol. 10, s. 356-364.
- 51. HORSKÁ, E. UBREŽIOVÁ, I. 2001. Manažment a marketing v medzinárodnom prostredí. Nitra: Slovenská poľnohospodárska univerzita, 2001, 418 s. ISBN 80-7137-884-4.
- 52. HOYER, W. D. MACINNIS, D. J. 2008. Consumer behavior. 5 thed. Mason : South-Western, 2008, s. 229. ISBN 978-0-547-07992-9.
- 53. HUBSPOT. 2016. *31 Video Marketing Statistics To Inform Your Strategy*. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-27]. Retrieved from: https://blog.hubspot.com/marketing/video-marketing statistics#sm.000auguls15q8cu6ukc2im03a8yla>
- 54. IABSLOVAKIA. 2016. Objemy reklamy Slovensko. [online]. [cit. 2022-03-20]. Retrieved from: http://www.iabslovakia.sk/internetova-reklama/objemy-reklamyslovensko/
- 55. IFORMATIZÁCIA.SK. 2014. *Strategický dokument pre oblasť rastu digitálnych služieb a oblasť prístupovej siete novej generácie (2014 - 2020).* [online]. [cit. 2022-01-30]. Retrieved from: http://informatizacia.sk/strategicky-dokument/16604s
- 56. JANOUCH, V. 2010. Internetový marketing. Prosaďte se na webu a sociálních sítích. Brno : Computer Press, a.s., 2010. 304 s. ISBN 978-80-251-2795-7.

- 57. JONES, D. G. B. SHAW, E. H. McCLEAN, P. A. 2011. *The Modern Schools of Marketing Thought*. In P. Maclaran, Saren, M., Stern, B., & Tadajewski, M. (Ed.), The SAGE handbook of marketing theory. London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- JONES, I. R. HIGGS, P. EKERDT, D. J. (eds.) (2008): Consumption and Generational Change: The Rise of Consumer Lifestyles. Transaction Publishers. 218 p. ISBN-13: 978-14-1-2808-57-6.
- 59. KAPLAN, A. M. HAENLEIN, M. 2010. Users of the world unite! The challenges and opportunities of Social Media. In: Business Horizons, 2010, pp. 59 68.
- 60. KAY, L. 2014. 94 Percent of B2B buyers research online for purchase decision. [online]. [cit. 2022-02-13]. Retrieved from: https://www.brafton.com/news/94-percent-b2b-buyers-research-online-purchase-decisions/?utm_medium=social&utm_campaign=post planner&utm_source=twitter.com>
- 61. KIERZKOWSKI, A. MCQUADE, S. WAITMAN, R. ZEISSER, M. 1996. *Marketing to the Digital Consumer*. McKinsey Quarterly 3: 4–21.
- 62. KITA, J. a kolektív. 2017. *Marketing*. Bratislava : Wolters Kluwers, 2017, 424 s. ISBN 978-80-8168-550-7.
- 63. KITA, J. a kolektív. 2015. *Modelovanie rozhodovacích procesov v marketingu*. Bratislava: Ekonóm, 2015, 279 s. ISBN 978-80-225-4159-6.
- 64. KOCH, CH. 2012. Consciousness: Confessions of a Romantic Reductionist. The MIT Press, 2012, 200 s. ISBN 978-0-262-01749-7.
- 65. KOTLER, P. KELLER, K. L. 2007. *Marketing management*. Praha : Grada Publishing, 2007, 792 s. ISBN 978-80-247-1359-5.
- 66. KOTLER, P. ARMSTRONG, G. 2010. Principles of marketing. London : Pearson, 2010, ISBN 13-987-0-13-700669-4.
- 67. KOUDELKA, J. 1997. Spotřební chování a marketing. Praha : Grada Publishing, 1997, 191 s. ISBN 80-7169-372-3.
- 68. KOUDELKA, J. 2010. *Spotřební chování*. Praha : Oeconomica, 2010, 158 s. ISBN 978-80-245-1698-1.
- 69. KREA. 2014. *E-mail marketing: Nástroj pre udržiavanie komunikácie s klientom a podporu predaja*. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-19]. Retrieved from: http://marketing. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-19]. Retrieved from: http://marketing.
- 70. KROEBER-REIL, W. WEINBERGER, P. 2003. Konsumentenverhalten. Vahlen, 2003, 825 s. ISBN 978-38-006-2931-2.
- 71. KULČÁKOVÁ, M. RICHTEROVÁ, K. 1996. Spotrebiteľské správanie. Bratislava : Vydavateľstvo EKONÓM, 1996, s. 65. ISBN 80-225-0729-6.
- 72. LECINSKI, J. (2011) *Winning the Zero Moment of Truth (ZMOT)*, Vook, June, ASIN: B005B1LBS8.

- 73. LETOŠ, R. 2005. *Hume a kauzalita*. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-27]. Retrieved from: http://www.distance.cz/rocnik-2005/4-cislo/hume-a-kauzalita
- 74. LOUDON, D. L. DELLA BITTA, A. J. 1993. Consumer behavior: Concepts and applications. McGraw-Hill, 1993, 788 s. ISBN 978-00-703-8767-6.
- 75. MACEK, J. 2010. Convergence or Divergence? Between the Two Styles of Media Consumption. In Consumer Culture: between aesthetics, social distinction and ecological activism. 2010.
- 76. MANICOM, S. 2015. *How digital is changing consumer behaviour*. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-29]. Retrieved from: http://www.mediavisioninteractive.com/blog/social-media/how-digital-is-changing-consumer-behaviour/
- 77. MANGOLD, G. FAULDS, D, 2009. Social media: The new hybrid element of the promotion mix, Business. Horizons, 52, 357-365.
- 78. MAYFIELD, A. 2008. *What is social media*. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-23]. Retrieved from: http://www.antonymayfield.com/2008/03/22/what-is-social-media-ebook-on-mashable/
- 79. MOLENAAR, C. 2010. Shopping 3.0: Shopping, the Internet Or Both?. Gower poublishing, 2010, 212 s. ISBN 978-1-409-4176-44
- 80. MNIWATTS MARKETING GROUP. 2015. Internet usage in the European Union. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-28]. Retrieved from: http://www.internetworldstats.com/ europa.htm#sk>
- 81. NÁKONEČNÝ, M. 2001. Sociální psychologie. Academia, 2011, 288 s. ISBN 80-200-0690-7.
- 82. NICOLESCU, L. GALALAE, C. VOICU, A. 2013. Solving a Supply Chain Management Problem to Near Optimality Using Ant Colony Optimization, in an International Context. Amfiteatru Economic, 15(33), pp. 8-26.
- 83. NIELSEN.COM. 2011. Shopper Path to Purchase: Three Biggest Decisions You Can Influence. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-29]. Retrieved from: http://www.nielsen.com/content/dam/c360/canada/Shopper%20Path%20to%20Purchase%20%20Three%20Biggest%20Decisions%20You%20Can%20Influence.pdf>
- OGNEVA, M. 2010. Why You Need to Monitor and Measure Your Brand on Social Media. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-26]. Retrieved from: http://mashable.com/2010/07/29/monitor-measure-brand-social-media/#UK10B4Mxy5qX
- 85. ORDUN, G. 2015. *Millenial (Gen Y) Consumer Behavior, Their Shopping Preferences, Perceptual Maps Associated With Brand Loyalty.* In: *Canadian Social Science.* ISSN 1923-6697. Vol. 11, No. 4, 2015, pp. 40-55.
- 86. ORENFORD, A. 2018. *Omni-Channel vs Multi-Channel: What is the Difference and Why Does It Matter*? [online]. [cit. 2022-01-27]. Retrieved from: < https://www.shopify.com /enterprise/omni-channel-vs-multi-channel >

- 87. PACCARD, E. 2017. *Omnichannel vs. Multichannel: are they so different?*. [online]. [cit. 2022-03-23]. Retrieved from: http://multichannelmerchant.com/blog/ omnichannel-vs-multichannel-different/>
- 88. PETER, P. OLSON J. 2008. *Consumer Behavior and Marketing Strategy*. New York : McGraw Hill Internatinal, 2008, 576 p. ISBN 978-007-125935-4.
- 89. PEXIDR, K. DEMJANČUK, N. 2009. *Kauzalita*. Plzeň: Vydavetelství a nakladatelství Aleše Čeněk. 2009. ISBN 978-80-7380-128-1.
- 90. PHILIPS, C. 2013. 'Webrooming' New trend holds promise for in-store sales. [online]. [cit. 2022-03-13]. Retrieved from: http://www.powerretail.com.au/multi-channel/accenture-seamless-
- 91. POLIAČIKOVÁ, E. 2007. *Marketing.I.* Banská Bystrica : Univerzita Mateja Bela, Ekonomická fakulta, 2007, 105 s. ISBN 978-80-8083-363-3.
- 92. PRIMARY INTELINGENCE. . [online]. [cit. 2022-03-23]. Retrieved from: https://www.primary-intel.com/15-for-15/15-powerful-customer-journey-maps/>
- 93. PRUETT, M. 2017. Omnichannel vs Multichannel marketing: the key differences. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-27]. Retrieved from: https://www.criteo.com/insights/ omnichannel-vs-multichannel/>
- 94. PUBLICIS KNUT. 2008. *Slovenský spotrebiteľ 2007*. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-22]. Retrieved from:
- 95. RIANT.SK. 2011. Vplyv sociálnych sietí na správanie spotrebiteľov. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-23]. Retrieved from: http://www.riant.sk/blog/vplyv-socialnych-sieti-na-spravanie-spotrebitelov>
- 96. RICHTEROVÁ, K. et al. 2015. *Spotrebiteľské správanie*. Bratislava : Sprint2, 2015, 404 s. ISBN 978-80-89710-18-8.
- 97. RICHTEROVÁ, K. KULČÁKOVÁ, M. KLEPOCHOVÁ, D. 2005. Spotrebiteľské správanie. Bratislava : Vydavateľstvo EKONÓM, 2005. 206 s. ISBN 80 225-2036-5.
- RODRIGUES, M. PROENA, J. 2022. Impact of Digital Transformation on the Development of New Business Models and Consumer Experience. Hershey: IGI Global, 2022, 347 p. ISBN 978-17-998-9180-2
- 99. RUCKER, D. K. GALINSKY, A. D. DUBOIS, D. 2011. Generous Paupers and Stingy Princes: Power Drives Consumer Spending on Self Versus Others. Journal of Consumer Research, 37, 6, 1015–29.
- 100. SARGEANT, A. WEST, D.C., 2001. *Direct and Interactive Marketing. Oxford*. Oxford University Press. 2001.
- 101. SCHIFFMAN, L. G. KANUK, L. L., 2004. Nákupní chování. Brno : Computer Press, a.s., 2004. 633 s. ISBN 80-251-0094-4.

- 102. SCOTT, P. R. JACKA, J.M. 2011. Auditing social media: a governance and risk guide. John Wiley & Sons, 2011, 208 s. ISBN 978-1-118-06175-6.
- 103. SHAO. G. 2009. Understanding the Appeal of User-Generated Media: A Uses and Gratification Perspective. Internet Research 19(1): 7–25.
- 104. SIN, S. NOR, K. M. AL-AGAGA, A. M. 2012. Factors Affecting Malaysian young consumers' online purchase intention in social media websites. Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, 40, Pages 326-333.
- 105. SMITH, K. 2013. *Overcoming showrooming*. [online]. [cit. 2022-02-13]. Retrieved from: http://editd.com/blog/2013/06/overcoming-showrooming/
- 106. SMITH, P. 2000. *Moderní marketing*. Praha: Computer Press, 2000. 518 s. ISBN 80-7226-252-1.
- 107. SOLIMAN, A. A. 2000. Consumer behavior between theory and practice with focus on the Saudi market. Riad : Institute of public Administration, 2000.
- 108. SOLIS. B. 2017. *The Conversation Prism*. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-08]. Retrieved from: https://conversationprism.com/
- 109. SOLOMON, M. R. MARSHALL, G. W. STUART E. W. 2006. *Marketing očima světových manažerů*. Brno : Computer Press a.s., 2006. 572 s. ISBN 80-251-1273-X.
- 110. SOPÓCI, J. 2004. *Kolektívne správanie a sociálne hnutie*. Univerzita Komenského, Bratislava 2004. ISBN 80-223-1905-8.
- 111. STAFFORD, T.F. STAFFORD, M. SCHKADE, L.L. 2004. Determining Uses and Gratifications for the Internet. Decision Sciences 35(2): 259–288.
- 112. SULLIVAN, P. HEITMEYER, J. (2008): Looking at gen Y shopping preferences and intentions: Exploring the role of experience and apparel involvement. International Journal of Consumer Studies, 32(3), 285 295.
- 113. TEO, S.H. YEONG, Y.D. 2003. Accessing the consumer decision proces in digital marketplace. Omega. Vol. 31, issue 5, pp. 349-363.
- 114. TNS Slovakia. 2015. *Generácia Millennials a generácia Z.* [online]. [cit. 2022-01-20]. Retrieved from: < http://www.tns-global.sk/informacie-pre-vas/tlacove-spravy/generacia -millennials-travi-na-internete-az-22-hodin-tyzdenne >
- 115. TREBUĽOVÁ, A. 2014. Internet nemá byť konkurencia, ale pomocník. In: Obchod, marketing, retail. FMCG, ISSN 1335-2008. 2014, roč. 19, č. 2, s. 24.
- 116. VALLO, A. 2015. *Poznáte typy digitálnych spotrebiteľov?* [online]. [cit. 2022-01-15]. Retrieved from: http://strategie.hnonline.sk/spravy/marketing-digital/poznate-typy-digitalnych-spotrebitelov-0
- 117. VAN BELLEGHEM, S. 2016. *How the digital world is shaping the modern consumer*. Strategic Direction, Vol. 32 Issue: 5, pp.1-2.

- 118. VAN GORP, N. BATURA, O. 2015. Challenges for Competition Policy in a Digitalised Economy. [online]. [cit. 2022-02-13]. Retrieved from: http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2015/542235/IPOL_STU(2015">http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2015/542235/IPOL_STU(2015">http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2015/542235/IPOL_STU(2015">http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2015/542235/IPOL_STU(2015")
- 119. VELŠIC, M. 2015. *Digitálna gramotnosť na Slovensku 2015*. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-03]. Retrieved from: http://www.ivo.sk/buxus/docs//publikacie/subory/Digitalna_gramotnost_2015.pdf
- 120. VYSEKALOVÁ, J. 2004. *Psychologie spotřebitele. Jak zákazníci nakupují. 1. vyd.* Praha : Grada Publishing, 2004. 283 s. ISBN 80-247-0393-9.
- 121. VYSEKALOVÁ, J. a kol. 2011. *Chování zákazníka*. Praha : Grada Publishing, 2011, 360 s. ISBN 978-80-247-3528-3.
- 122. WILLIAMS, E. 2016. *Generation X consumer behavior*. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-07]. Retrieved from: http://yourbusiness.azcentral.com/generation-x-consumer-behavior-9585.html>
- 123. WOLNY, J. NIPAWAN, CH. 2014. *Mapping customer journeys in multichannel decision making*. Journal of direct data and digital marketing practice. Vol. 15, issue 4, pp. 317 326.
- 124. WORLD BANK. 2016. *Digital Dividends Report*. [online]. [cit. 2022-04-03]. Retrieved from: http://wwwwds.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2016/01/13/090224b08405ea05/2_0/Rendered/PDF/World0developm0000digital0divid ends.pdf>
- 125. WU, P. 2016. 4 Characteristics of the Modern Digital Consumer and What It Means For Your Business. [online]. [cit. 2022-02-13]. Retrieved from: https://www.pop-art.com/4-characteristics-of-the-modern-digital-customer-and-what-it-means-for-your-business/
- 126. ZAMAZALOVÁ, M. 2009. *Marketing obchodní firmy. 1. vydání.* Praha : Grada Publishing, 2009, 232 s. ISBN 978-80-247-2049-4.
- 127. ZÁKON O REKLAME č. 147/2001 Z. z.
- 128. ZÁKON O ELEKTRONICKOM OBCHODE č. 22/2004 Z. z.
- 129. ZÁKON O ELEKTRONICKEJ KOMUNIKÁCII č. 610/2003 Z. z.
- 130. ZHANG, J. FARRIS, P. W. IRVIN, J. W. KUSHWAHA, T. STEENBURGH, T. J. – WEITZ, B. A. 2010. *Crafting integrated multi-channel retailing strategies*. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*. Vol. 24, No. 2, pp. 168–180.
- 131. ZONEMEDIA. 2017. *Čím nás prekvapí digitálny marketing v roku 2017?*. [online]. [cit. 2022-01-31]. Retrieved from:< http://www.zonemedia.sk/blog/skuska-2/>
- 132. ŽÁK, Š. 2014. *Marketingový výskum v digitálnej ére*. Bratislava : Vydavateľstvo EKONÓM, 2014, 131 s. ISBN 978-80-225-3902-9.

Title:	Consumer Behaviour Changes in the Era of Digital Marketing
Authors:	Štefan ŽÁK - Mária HASPROVÁ - Tomáš RUŽIČKA
Published by:	Sciemcee Publishing
	LP22772, 20-22 Wenlock Road, London, United Kingdom
First edition:	2022
Scope:	104 pages
Copies:	100
AH:	7,63 AH
Cover:	Canva Creative Studio by Canva

ISBN 978-1-7399378-5-0



The scientific monograph Consumer Behaviour Changes in the Era of Digital Marketing aims to identify the patterns of digital consumer behaviour and the typology of digital consumers based on the analysis of the impact of digital technologies on long-term changes in consumer behaviour.

At the same time, the authors of the scientific monograph aim to assess critically the concepts of the digital era and the digital consumer and also to specify the basic typology of consumers, to identify the forms and tools of digital marketing, to characterise the impact of social media on the digital consumer. In addition, the authors of the scientific monograph purposefully define and characterise the online space as a platform influencing consumer behaviour, then define it in this space, and describe the processes in the online space leading to purchasing in the online environment.

The outcome of the objectives of the scientific monograph is the identification of changes in consumer behaviour concerning their evolution over time.



Published by Sciemcee Publishing LP22772, 20-22 Wenlock Road London, United Kingdom N1 7GU